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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Chinney Alliance Group Limited    Annual Report 2023

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of Chinney Alliance Group Limited 
(the “Company”, collectively with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) will be held on Friday, 7 June 2024 at 
11:30 a.m. at Artyzen Club, 401A, 4/F Shun Tak Centre (near China Merchants Tower), 200 Connaught 
Road Central, Hong Kong for the following purposes:

1.	 To receive and consider the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 
31 December 2023 together with the reports of the directors and the independent auditor thereon.

2.	 To declare a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023.

3.	 To re-elect directors and to authorise the board of directors to fix the directors’ remuneration.

4.	 To re-appoint auditor and to authorise the board of directors to fix their remuneration.

5.	 To consider as special business and, if thought fit, pass with or without amendments the following 
resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

ORDINARY RESOLUTION

“THAT:

(a)	 subject to paragraph (c) below, a general mandate be and is hereby unconditionally granted to 
the directors of the Company to exercise during the Relevant Period (as hereinafter defined) of 
all the powers of the Company to allot, issue and deal with additional shares in the capital of the 
Company and to make or grant offers, agreements and options which would or might require the 
exercise of such powers;

(b)	 the mandate in paragraph (a) above shall authorise the directors of the Company during the 
Relevant Period to make or grant offers, agreements and options which would or might require the 
exercise of such powers after the end of the Relevant Period;

(c)	 the aggregate nominal amount of share capital allotted or agreed conditionally or unconditionally 
to be allotted (whether pursuant to an option or otherwise) and issued by the directors of the 
Company pursuant to the mandate in paragraph (a) above, otherwise than pursuant to (i) a 
Rights Issue (as hereinafter defined); or (ii) an issue of shares under any option scheme or similar 
arrangement for the time being adopted and approved by the shareholders of the Company for the 
grant or issue to officers and/or employees of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries of shares 
or rights to acquire shares of the Company; or (iii) an issue of shares as scrip dividends or similar 
arrangement providing for the allotment of shares in lieu of the whole or part of a dividend on 
shares of the Company in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company; or (iv) a specific authority 
granted by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting, shall not exceed twenty per cent. 
of the aggregate nominal amount of the issued share capital of the Company at the date of passing 
this Resolution, and the said mandate shall be limited accordingly; and
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(d)	 for the purpose of this Resolution,

“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of this Resolution until whichever is the 
earlier of:

(i)	 the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company;

(ii)	 the expiration of the period within which the next annual general meeting of the Company is 
required by the Bye-laws of the Company or any applicable laws to be held; or

(iii)	 the date of the passing of an ordinary resolution by the shareholders of the Company in 
general meeting revoking or varying the authority given to the directors of the Company by 
this Resolution.

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares in the Company, or an offer of warrants, options or other 
securities giving rights to subscribe for shares, open for a period fixed by the directors of the 
Company to the holders of shares of the Company on the register of members of the Company 
on a fixed record date in proportion to their then holdings of such shares as at that date (subject 
to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors of the Company, after making enquiry, 
may deem necessary or expedient in relation to fractional entitlements or having regard to any legal 
restrictions under the laws of the relevant place, or the requirements of the relevant regulatory 
body or any stock exchange in that place).”

By Order of the Board
Yun-Sang Lo

Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 29 April 2024
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Notes:

(1)	 A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM (and at any adjournment thereof) is entitled to 
appoint another person as his proxy to attend and vote instead of the shareholder. The proxy need not be a 
shareholder of the Company.

(2)	 In order to be valid, a form of proxy in the prescribed form, together with the power of attorney or other 
authority (if any) under which it is signed or a certified copy of that power of attorney or other authority must 
be completed, signed and deposited with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Tricor Tengis 
Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later than 48 hours before the 
time appointed for holding the AGM (and at any adjournment thereof).

(3)	 Where there are joint registered holders of any shares, any one of such joint holders may vote at the AGM 
(and at any adjournment thereof), either in person or by proxy, in respect of such shares as if he was solely 
entitled thereto, but if more than one of such joint holders be present at the meeting, the vote of the senior 
who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other 
joint holders, and for this purpose seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names stand in the 
register of members of the Company in respect of the joint holding.

(4)	 Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), any vote of shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll 
and the Company must announce the results of the poll in the manner prescribed under Rule 13.39(5) of 
the Listing Rules. The chairman of the meeting will therefore put each of the resolutions to be proposed 
at the AGM to be voted by way of a poll pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”). An 
announcement will be made by the Company following the conclusion of the AGM to inform the results of the 
AGM.

(5)	 With regard to resolution 3 in this notice, Mr. Chi-Chiu Wu (“Mr. Wu”), who was appointed subsequent to 
the last annual general meeting of the Company, will hold office until the AGM and, being eligible, offer 
himself for re-election in accordance with bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws at the AGM.

Mr. Ronald James Blake (“Mr. Blake”) will retire by rotation at the AGM in accordance with bye-law 85 of the 
Bye-laws. Mr. Blake, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the AGM.

(6)	 Details of the directors who stand for re-election at the AGM are set out below:–

Chi-Chiu Wu

Aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company in March 2012 and 
re-designated to a non-executive director of the Company in January 2024. Mr. Wu had been a director and 
the chief executive officer of Golden Glory Group Pte. Ltd. since 12 September 2013, until he resigned on 
15 February 2019, a company incorporated in Singapore as the holding company to develop and operate 
mixed-use properties in Myanmar, comprising residential, commercial, retail, hotel, and industrial township. 
He had been an executive director of China Motion Telecom International Limited (stock code: 989, now 
known as Hua Yin International Holdings Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,  
since 9 February 2006 and the vice chairman and the chief executive officer of that company since 6 March 2006,  
until he resigned on 31 March 2013. Mr. Wu holds a Bachelor of Science degree from the University of 
Toronto, Canada.
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Notes: (continued)

(6)	 (continued)

Chi-Chiu Wu (continued)

Mr. Wu does not have any interests in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the 
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”). Save as disclosed above, 
Mr. Wu does not hold any other positions in the Company or any members of the Group, and did not hold any 
directorships in any listed public companies in the past three years. He does not have any relationships with 
any directors, senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Wu has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years which is 
terminable by either party by serving to another party one month’s advance written notice. His directorship is 
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s annual general meeting in accordance with 
the Bye-laws of the Company. He is entitled to a director’s fee of HK$320,000 per annum which is based on 
the Company’s remuneration policy adopted for non-executive director of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there is no information to be disclosed pursuant to Rules 13.51(2)(h) to (v) of the 
Listing Rules, nor any other matters and information need to be brought to the attention of the shareholders 
of the Company or required to be disclosed pursuant to any of the requirements of the Listing Rules in respect 
of Mr. Wu.
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Notes: (continued)

(6)	 (continued)

Ronald James Blake

Aged 89, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company in 2013. He retired from 
the Chief Officer of Kowloon-Canton Railway Corporation (“KCRC”) in 2012, previously Chief Executive 
Officer. After retirement in 2013, he was appointed a Project Reviewer to Hong Kong Government for 
Kai Tak Sports Park inclusive 50,000-seat retractable roof stadium and to Ocean Park Corporation for new 
Water World project. He was a Senior Director of KCRC since 1997 responsible for KCRC’s HK$70 billion 
expansion programme of railway and stations in tunnel, on viaduct and at grade. Before joining KCRC in 
1997, he was Secretary for Works in the Hong Kong Government between 1991 and 1995, overseeing the 
implementation of the Airport Core Programme and the harbour wing extension of the Hong Kong Conference 
and Exhibition Centre. Before that, he served with Paul Y. Construction Company, Limited and was engaged 
in civil engineering and building contracting from 1972 onwards. Mr. Blake began his career in the United 
Kingdom as a civil/structural engineer with Boulton and Paul, and following service with the Corps of Royal 
Engineers joined Scott Wilson Kirkpatrick & Partners to return to Hong Kong in 1965.

Mr. Blake was qualified as a Chartered Engineer in 1960 and was awarded the Institution of Civil Engineers 
Gold Medal in 1997. He was the President of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers between 1991 and 1992 
and later became President of the Federation of Engineering Institutions of South East Asia and the Pacific 
(FEISEAP), having served as a member of the Executive for three years. He is a fellow member of the Hong 
Kong Institution of Engineers, the Institution of Civil Engineers, The Institution of Structural Engineers, The 
Chartered Institution of Highways and Transportation, Hong Kong Academy of Engineering Science.

He was a member of Construction Industry Council from 2001 to 2008 and also a member of the Hong Kong 
Special Administrative Region Election Committee (Engineer Sub-sector) from 1998 to 2011. In January 2013, 
he was appointed a member to the Commission on Strategic Development of the Government of Hong Kong 
Special Administrative Region.

In recognition of his public services, he was awarded OBE and appointed a Justice of Peace by the Hong Kong 
Government in 1996. He was also awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star by the Government of Hong Kong Special 
Administrative Region in 2012.

Mr. Blake does not have any interests in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. 
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Blake does not hold any other positions in the Company or any members of the 
Group, and did not hold any directorships in any listed public companies in the past three years. He does not 
have any relationships with any directors, senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the 
Company.

There is currently no service contract between the Company and Mr. Blake and he is not appointed for a 
specific term but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s annual general meeting 
in accordance with the Bye-laws. Mr. Blake is entitled to a director’s fee of HK$320,000 per annum which 
is based on the Company’s remuneration policy adopted for independent non-executive directors of the 
Company.

Save as disclosed above, there is no information to be disclosed pursuant to Rules 13.51(2)(h) to (v) of the 
Listing Rules, nor any other matters and information need to be brought to the attention of the shareholders 
of the Company or required to be disclosed pursuant to any of the requirements of the Listing Rules in respect 
of Mr. Blake.

(7)	 At the date hereof, the Board comprises of seven directors, of which three are executive directors, 
namely Mr. James Sing-Wai Wong, Mr. Yuen-Keung Chan and Mr. Philip Bing-Lun Lam; and one is a 
non-executive director, namely Mr. Chi-Chiu Wu; and three are independent non-executive directors, namely 
Mr. Ronald James Blake, Mr. Anthony King-Yan Tong and Ms. Dee-Dee Chan.
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LETTER TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

2023 turned out to be another difficult year for Hong Kong and our construction and engineering 
industry. Freed from the COVID-19 restrictions, Hong Kong stumbled; squeezed between an economic 
recession in China, and high interest rates from the dollar peg. The well documented Chinese real estate 
slump reduced the number and size of real estate projects. At the same time, our finance costs more 
than doubled reducing both growth opportunities as well as Group profits. Despite the strong headwinds, 
thanks to our talented and hardworking teams, we are pleased to report a small year-end profit.

Chinney Alliance Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) recorded 
revenues of HK$5,982 million (2022: HK$5,898 million), and a net profit of HK$56.4 million (2022: 
HK$14.3 million). The profit attributable to the owners of the Company was HK$25.7 million (2022: loss 
of HK$10.2 million).

While revenues remained flat, our Group managed to grow profits thanks to the excellent performance of 
our listed sub-structure engineering subsidiary Chinney Kin Wing Holdings Limited (“Chinney Kin Wing”) 
and our aviation group. The worst performing segments included downward revaluations from our real 
estate investments (HK$28.4 million), as well as slow project progress for our Building Services subsidiaries.

Our Group is built (forgive the pun) to withstand the boom-and-bust economic engineering and 
construction cycles. Real estate development starts with substructure and foundation works, followed by 
superstructure contracting, followed by fitting out buildings with HVAC, plumbing, fire-safety systems, 
electrical, security, and other building services. These three segments never boom or rarely bust all at 
the same time. Right now, the foundation works are full steam ahead, building construction is picking 
up, while services are in a down cycle. Because the ups and downs of these segments are not exactly 
matching, our aviation and trading businesses run on different cycles and serve to “smooth” out our 
performance volatility. This is the “all weather” strategy designed by our visionary Vice-Chairman 
Mr. Yuen-Keung Chan.

This year, Mr. Wing-Sang Yu, Managing Director of Chinney Kin Wing, deserves the biggest praise for 
our good results. He’s been associated with our group for almost 30 years, taking the Kin Wing brand 
public not once, but twice. He delivered this performance while managing the transition following the 
retirement of his longtime partner and General Manager Mr. Hin-Kwong So, and promoting Mr. So’s 
successors: Mr. Hon-Man Wai, and Mr. Hoi-Fan Lam. Please shake his (and their) hands if you see them at 
the forthcoming annual general meeting of Chinney Kin Wing. They deserve compliments.

Our Aviation group also delivered a record year and record profits under the leadership of  
Mr. Kwok-Keung Wong (known to his friends and colleagues as “KK”). Their work includes delivering 
systems related to building out the third runway at the Hong Kong International Airport at Chek Lap Kok. 
These systems improve the safety of the flying public by significantly reducing the type of aircraft collision 
risk, unfortunately, witnessed in Japan this year.
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OUTLOOK

As we move through the Year of the Dragon in 2024, Hong Kong continues to be buffeted between the 
fickle US economy and the sluggish Chinese recovery.

While disinflation and steady economic growth is creating a near mythical “soft landing” scenario in the 
US, the polarised and unpopular candidates in this year’s election is likely to increase geopolitical tensions 
and taxes (or tariffs). War continues in Europe and the Middle East, and there are other hot spots. 
Commodity price spikes and supply disruptions will keep inflation alive. So borrowing costs are likely 
remain higher for longer than the markets desire or predict.

China continues to relax and expand fiscal and monetary policies. The travel and hospitality industry 
shows resilience in consumer sentiment. But real estate activity is moribund, and unemployment 
particularly among the young, remains stubbornly high. And the decoupling of China US relations is 
becoming a farce. The good news is that China is still the economic engine of the world. Whether 
through technology, industry, or electric vehicles, it will find its way back onto the high growth track.

Hong Kong will remain China’s economic touchstone, showing the way to faster recovery and new 
growth opportunities. The Government’s engagement in growing the tourism and hospitality activities 
will relaunch the Hong Kong brand internationally and help our aviation business. Its investment in 
the Northern Metropolis will provide a steady supply of projects for our construction and engineering 
businesses. Hopefully, the removal of all the “spicy” stamp duties will also encourage the return of private 
real estate development.

This is a harsh industry and difficult conditions have persisted for nearly five years. Looking forward, while 
we are more than surviving, we can hardly be called thriving. Competition is intense. Margins are falling 
while borrowing costs keep rising. The survivors in our industry are all stronger. Each more competitive for 
the fewer and fewer projects that come online. We are doing our best to keep in front.

With skilled and disciplined managers, a large order book, happy customers and wide financial support, 
the Group is confident that we will ride out this very long storm. In addition, to broaden our expertise and 
service offerings, we are actively exploring opportunities in zero-carbon and climate change technologies, 
robotics, digitisation, electrification infrastructure and urban air mobility.

The Board and management maintain a cautiously optimistic outlook for the sustained performance of the 
Group in the foreseeable future.
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APPRECIATION

May I take this opportunity to extend my gratitude to my fellow directors for their invaluable guidance 
and unwavering support. And in particular to our colleagues at all levels whose hard work has been 
instrumental in our success over the past year.

Furthermore, I would like to express my heartfelt appreciation for the steadfast support and loyalty of our 
shareholders, business partners and other stakeholders who are vital to our business growth and success.

Thank you.

James Sing-Wai Wong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

James Sing-Wai Wong

Aged 60, was appointed as an executive director of the Company in August 2010 and the chairman of 
the Company in June 2023. He graduated from the University of Washington with a Bachelor’s degree 
with honors in Economics. He also holds a Juris Doctorate degree from the University of California College 
of the Law, San Francisco (formerly known as University of California San Francisco, Hastings College of 
Law), and a Master’s degree in Systems Engineering and Information Systems from the Florida Institute of 
Technology. He is a member of the California Bar as well as a licensed California Real Estate Broker. He 
has accumulated over thirty years of experience in economics, law, management and information systems 
in Hong Kong, United States, Canada, the United Kingdom and the Mainland China.

Mr. Wong is the chairman and a director of Chinney Alliance Engineering Limited (“CAE”) and 
Jacobson van den Berg (Hong Kong) Limited and its fellow subsidiaries (“Jacobson”) and a director 
of Maphinia International Group Limited (formerly known as Chinney Alliance (China) Limited), 
Chinney Construction Company, Limited (“Chinney Construction”), Kin Wing Engineering Company Limited (“KWE”) 
and Shun Cheong Electrical Engineering Company Limited (“SCEE”), all being major subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Wong is the chairman and an executive director of Chinney Investments, Limited (stock code: 216, 
“Chinney Investments”), a director of Chinney Holdings Limited and Lucky Year Finance Limited, all 
being substantial shareholders of the Company, and a director of Chinney Capital Limited which is a 
shareholder of the Company. He is also an executive director of Chinney Kin Wing Holdings Limited (stock 
code: 1556, “Chinney Kin Wing”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Chinney Kin Wing Group”) and the 
chairman and an executive director of Hon Kwok Land Investment Company, Limited (stock code: 160, 
“Hon Kwok”). Chinney Investments, Hon Kwok and Chinney Kin Wing are listed on the Main Board of The 
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). He is the son of Dr. James Sai-Wing Wong,  
a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Yuen-Keung Chan

Aged 69, was appointed as an executive director of the Company in 2007. He was then appointed the 
vice chairman of the Company in March 2011 and the managing director of the Company in March 2012. 
He has over forty-five years of experience in the construction industry. He is a member of the Chartered 
Institute of Building. Mr. Chan is the vice chairman, the managing director and an executive director of 
Chinney Investments (stock code: 216), being substantial shareholders of the Company, and a director 
of KWE, SCEE and Chinney Construction, all being major subsidiaries of the Company. He is also the 
chairman and an executive director of Chinney Kin Wing (stock code: 1556). Chinney Investments and 
Chinney Kin Wing are both listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Philip Bing-Lun Lam

Aged 81, was appointed as an executive director of the Company in August 2012. He is a director of 
SCEE and Chinney Construction, both being major subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lam began his 
career in 1963 with Hang Seng Bank Limited for eleven years, and then joined The University of Hong 
Kong (“HKU”) in 1975 as an Assistant Finance Director. He then worked as the Chief Accountant and 
Comptroller in Overseas Bank (Canada) in Vancouver for three years from 1982 to 1985. In December 
1985, Mr. Lam re-joined HKU and had served as the Director of Finance from 1990 until his retirement 
on 30 June 2012. He was then asked by the Vice-Chancellor of HKU to be his Senior Advisor for 
financial, investment and fund-raising matters until June 2014, and had been the Honorary Advisor to the 
Chairman of The University of Hong Kong Foundation for Educational Development and Research until 
end of 2019.

Mr. Lam obtained a diploma in management studies from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as 
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in 1974. He is a fellow of The Chartered Institute of Management 
Accountants (UK), the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and an associate of The 
Certified Management Accountants (Canada), The Chartered Governance Institute (UK) (formerly The 
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators (UK)) and The Chartered Institute of Bankers (UK).

Mr. Lam is active in community affairs and had served as a member on the Board of Review (Inland 
Revenue Ordinance) Hong Kong for three years from 1995 to 1998. He had been a member of the 
Establishment and Finance Committee of the Prince Philip Dental Hospital from early 1990s until 
his retirement in June 2012. Currently he is a member of the Board of Governors of the Canadian 
International School of Hong Kong.

Mr. Lam is an executive director of Chinney Kin Wing (stock code: 1556) and Hon Kwok (stock code: 
160). Chinney Kin Wing and Hon Kwok are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He had been 
an independent non-executive director of Oriental University City Holdings (H.K.) Limited (stock code: 
8067) from December 2014 to December 2021, which is listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Chi-Chiu Wu

Aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company in March 2012 and 
re-designated to a non-executive director of the Company in January 2024. Mr. Wu had been a director 
and the chief executive officer of Golden Glory Group Pte. Ltd. since 12 September 2013, until he 
resigned on 15 February 2019, a company incorporated in Singapore as the holding company to develop 
and operate mixed-use properties in Myanmar, comprising residential, commercial, retail, hotel, and 
industrial township. He had been an executive director of China Motion Telecom International Limited 
(stock code: 989, now known as Hua Yin International Holdings Limited), a company listed on the Main 
Board of the Stock Exchange, since 9 February 2006 and the vice chairman and the chief executive officer 
of that company since 6 March 2006, until he resigned on 31 March 2013. Mr. Wu holds a Bachelor of 
Science degree from the University of Toronto, Canada.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ronald James Blake

Aged 89, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company in 2013. He 
retired from the Chief Officer of Kowloon-Canton Railway Corporation (“KCRC”) in 2012, previously 
Chief Executive Officer. After retirement in 2013, he was appointed a Project Reviewer to Hong Kong 
Government for Kai Tak Sports Park inclusive 50,000-seat retractable roof stadium and to Ocean Park 
Corporation for new Water World project. He was a Senior Director of KCRC since 1997 responsible for 
KCRC’s HK$70 billion expansion programme of railway and stations in tunnel, on viaduct and at grade. 
Before joining KCRC in 1997, he was Secretary for Works in the Hong Kong Government between 
1991 and 1995, overseeing the implementation of the Airport Core Programme and the harbour wing 
extension of the Hong Kong Conference and Exhibition Centre. Before that, he served with Paul Y. 
Construction Company, Limited and was engaged in civil engineering and building contracting from 1972 
onwards. Mr. Blake began his career in the United Kingdom as a civil/structural engineer with Boulton and 
Paul, and following service with the Corps of Royal Engineers joined Scott Wilson Kirkpatrick & Partners to 
return to Hong Kong in 1965.

Mr. Blake was qualified as a Chartered Engineer in 1960 and was awarded the Institution of Civil 
Engineers Gold Medal in 1997. He was the President of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers between 
1991 and 1992 and later became President of the Federation of Engineering Institutions of South East 
Asia and the Pacific (FEISEAP), having served as a member of the Executive for three years. He is a fellow 
member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, the Institution of Civil Engineers, The Institution of 
Structural Engineers, The Chartered Institution of Highways and Transportation, Hong Kong Academy of 
Engineering Science.

He was a member of Construction Industry Council from 2001 to 2008 and also a member of the  
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Election Committee (Engineer Sub-sector) from 1998 to 2011. 
In January 2013, he was appointed a member to the Commission on Strategic Development of the 
Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

In recognition of his public services, he was awarded OBE and appointed a Justice of Peace by the  
Hong Kong Government in 1996. He was also awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star by the Government of 
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2012.

Anthony King-Yan Tong

Aged 67, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company in July 2021.  
Mr. Tong is a partner and director of Group Talent Global Limited, a company focusing on development 
of affordable luxury residences in Thailand. Mr. Tong had served 40 years with PricewaterhouseCoopers 
(the “Firm”) in Hong Kong and San Francisco with closed to 30 years as a partner and served many years 
on the Hong Kong and China Firm’s board of partners. He also founded the US Tax Consulting Group 
of the Firm in Greater China and led the US Tax practice in Asia Pacific until his retirement as partner in 
2017. He has strong experience advising on tax issues relating to cross-border mergers and acquisitions, 
tax efficient financing structures and profit repatriation, structuring of private equity and venture 
capital funds and investments. Mr. Tong holds a Bachelor of Business Administration degree (major in 
Accounting) from the University of California, Berkeley and is a US Certified Public Accountant (inactive).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Dee-Dee Chan

Aged 41, Ms. Chan was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company in 
December 2021. Ms. Chan is a chief investment officer of Park Lane Capital Holdings Limited, responsible 
for overall asset allocation, external manager due diligence and selection, and all investment related 
activities for a single family office portfolio. She has been a director of Hotel ICON Limited since January 
2022. She is also a director of Seal of Love Charitable Foundation, responsible for the overall strategic 
planning and execution for philanthropic activities in Hong Kong, Cambodia, Thailand and Vietnam. 
She was a vice president of BNP Paribas Wealth Management, specialist in structured equity derivatives.  
Ms. Chan graduated from Claremont McKenna College with a Bachelor of Arts degree with Honours in 
French and Politics, Philosophy and Economics, and a Master of Education with Distinction from HKU.

Ms. Chan is currently a Court member and an Institutional Advancement and Outreach Committee 
member of The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, as well as a trustee and Grant 
Allocation Committee member of Fu Tak Iam Foundation Limited. She has been a member of Governing 
Committee of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University Foundation since April 2022 and a member of the 
Council of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University since April 2023.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Kwok-Ming Lam

Aged 60, is the managing director of Jacobson which is a major subsidiary of the Company engaged 
in trading of plastics and chemicals. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He holds a 
Master of Science degree in Electronic Commerce from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Lam is 
an independent non-executive director of Cosmos Machinery Enterprises Limited (stock code: 118) which 
is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Wing-Sang Yu

Aged 63, is an executive director and concurrently serves as the managing director of Chinney Kin Wing 
(stock code: 1556) which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and a major subsidiary of the 
Company engaged in foundation piling and site investigation. He has over twenty-five years of experience 
in the foundation industry and is responsible for formulating corporate development and business 
strategies, the establishment and ensuring compliance with Chinney Kin Wing Group’s core value and 
leading and training the core management team of Chinney Kin Wing. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in 
Engineering from HKU and a Master’s degree in Arts (Christian Studies) from The Chinese University of 
Hong Kong. He is a corporate member of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers.

Kwok-Leung Fung

Aged 64, is the director and general manager of Westco Chinney Limited which is a major subsidiary of 
the Company engaged in installation of air-conditioning systems. He has over thirty years of experience 
in the field of mechanical engineering. He is a member of American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and 
Air-conditioning Engineers and Australian Institute of Refrigeration, Air-conditioning and Heating.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Kwok-Keung Wong

Aged 65, is the managing director of CAE, a major subsidiary of the Company engaged in the distribution 
of aviation system and other hi-tech products. He has over thirty years of experience in marketing of 
communication and electronic equipment, especially aviation equipment. He holds a Higher Diploma in 
Marine Electronics from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) 
and a Master’s degree in Business from The University of Newcastle, Australia. He is a member of The 
Hong Kong Management Association.

Chi-Kin Chan

Aged 68, is a director of Shun Cheong Engineering Group Limited and its major subsidiaries, and a 
director and general manager of SCEE, which are engaged in building related contracting services 
businesses of the Group. He has over forty years of experience in building services industry. Mr. Chan 
holds a Higher Diploma in Mechanical Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the 
Hong Kong Polytechnic University). He is a council member of the Association of Registered Fire Service 
Installation Contractors of Hong Kong Limited.

Hon-Man Wai

Aged 50, is an executive director of Chinney Kin Wing (stock code: 1556) which is listed on the Main 
Board of the Stock Exchange and the director of certain major subsidiaries of Chinney Kin Wing engaged 
in foundation piling and site investigation. Mr. Wai is the Head of Execution Panel of Chinney Kin Wing 
and responsible for the overall management and supervision of operations of Chinney Kin Wing. Mr. Wai 
has over twenty-seven years of experience in supervising and managing various foundation piling projects. 
He obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Environmental Engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University 
in 1996. After graduation, he joined the Chinney Kin Wing Group as an assistant engineer in September 
1996.

Hoi-Fan Lam

Aged 50, is an executive director of Chinney Kin Wing (stock code: 1556) which is listed on the Main 
Board of the Stock Exchange and the director of certain major subsidiaries of Chinney Kin Wing 
engaged in drilling and site investigation. Mr. Lam is the head of the Chinney Kin Wing Group’s Safety 
Department and DrilTech. He is responsible for the overall management and operations of drilling and site 
investigation business of Chinney Kin Wing. Mr. Lam has over thirty years of experience in performing and 
supervising various site investigation works. He joined DrilTech Ground Engineering Limited in February 
1997 as a senior technician. He obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering from Chu Hai College of 
Higher Education in 2009.

Yun-Sang Lo

Aged 58, is the company secretary and financial controller of the Company. He has thirty-five years 
of experience in the accounting field. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from  
The Chinese University of Hong Kong and is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving the standards of corporate conduct and to place importance on 
its corporate governance systems so as to ensure greater transparency, accountability and protection of 
shareholders’ interests.

This report describes the Company’s corporate governance practices and structures that were in place 
during the financial year, with specific reference to the principles and guidelines of the Corporate 
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing 
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). In developing and reviewing its corporate 
governance policies and practices, the Company has sought to adopt a balanced approach.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2023, in the opinion of the directors of the Company 
(the “Directors”), the Company has complied with the applicable code provisions of the CG Code, except 
B.2.2 and C.5.1, which are explained in this report.

CORPORATE CULTURE

A positive and progressive corporate culture across the Group is vital for the Company to achieve its 
purpose towards the sustainable growth. It is the role of the Board to foster the Group’s corporate culture 
with the core principles of integrity and accountability to guide the behaviours of its employees and 
ensure that the Company’s purpose, values and business strategies are aligned to it.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board believes that a well-balanced corporate governance structure will enable the Company to 
better manage its business risks and thereby ensure the Company is run in the best interests of its 
shareholders and other stakeholders. The Board is primarily responsible for setting directions, formulating 
strategies, monitoring performance and managing risks of the Group. At the same time, it is also 
charged with the duty to enhance the effectiveness of the corporate governance practices of the Group. 
Under the Board, there are currently three board committees, namely Audit Committee, Remuneration 
Committee and Nomination Committee. All the committees perform their distinct roles in accordance 
with their respective terms of reference and assist the Board in supervising certain functions of the senior 
management.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Members of the Board are collectively responsible for overseeing the business and affairs of the Group 
that aims to enhancing the Company’s value for stakeholders. Roles of the Board include reviewing and 
guiding corporate strategies and policies; monitoring financial and operating performance; ensuring the 
integrity of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting systems; and setting appropriate policies in 
managing risks of the Group while the day-to-day management is delegated to the executive Directors. 
The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” 
on pages 12 to 16 of this Annual Report.

The Board currently comprises of three executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three 
independent non-executive Directors. The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of the 
report are set out on page 38 of this Annual Report and are currently as follows:
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Name of Director

Executive Directors

Mr. James Sing-Wai Wong (Chairman)
Mr. Yuen-Keung Chan (Vice Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. Philip Bing-Lun Lam
Dr. James Sai-Wing Wong (retired on 2 June 2023)

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Chi-Chiu Wu (re-designated on 12 January 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ronald James Blake
Mr. Anthony King-Yan Tong
Ms. Dee-Dee Chan

Independent non-executive Directors serve the relevant function of bringing independent judgment on 
the development, performance and risk management of the Group through their contributions in board 
meetings.

The Board considers that each independent non-executive Director is independent in character and 
judgment. The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director a written 
confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Board meetings of the Company were held twice during the year on a regular basis, which deviated from 
code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code which stipulates that the Board should meet regularly and board 
meetings should be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals.

In view of the simplicity of the Group’s businesses, regular board meetings have not been held quarterly 
during the year. The interim and annual results together with all corporate transactions happened during 
the year have been reviewed and discussed amongst the Directors at the full board meetings held in the 
year.

Draft minutes of board meetings are circulated to Directors for comments and the signed minutes are 
kept by the Company Secretary.

In order to safeguard the interest of individual Director, the Company has also arranged directors’ and 
officers’ liability insurance for the Directors.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Group has established following mechanisms to ensure independent views and input are available to 
the Board, which have been reviewed by the Board and considered to be effective:

(a)	 As at the date of this report, three out of the seven Directors are independent non-executive 
Directors, which meets the requirement of the Listing Rules that at least one-third of the Board are 
independent non-executive Directors.

(b)	 All independent non-executive Directors of the Company are appointed to board committees and 
continue to contribute actively in board and board committees’ meetings to bring independent 
judgement on the development, performance and risk management of the Group.

(c)	 The Nomination Committee strictly adheres to the independence assessment criteria as set out in 
the Listing Rules with regard to the nomination and appointment of independent non-executive 
Directors, and is mandated to assess annually the independence of independent non-executive 
Directors to ensure that they can continually exercise independent judgement.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director a written confirmation of 
his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. With the assessment conducted by 
the Nomination Committee, the Board still considers that each independent non-executive Director 
is independent in character and judgement.

(d)	 No equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements will be granted to independent 
non-executive Directors as this may lead to bias in their decision-making and compromise their 
objectivity and independence.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. James Sing-Wai Wong, Chairman of the Company, is responsible for the management of the Board. 
Mr. Yuen-Keung Chan is the Vice Chairman and Managing Director of the Company. Each segment of 
the Group’s businesses namely Jacobson, CAE, Chinney Kin Wing Group, Chinney Construction and  
Shun Cheong is managed by its divisional managing directors and/or general managers.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that every director, including those appointed for a 
specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

According to the provisions of the Bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”), at each annual general 
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, 
the number nearest to but not greater than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation save that the 
Chairman and/or the Managing Director of the Company shall not be subject to retirement by rotation or 
be taken into account in determining the number of directors to retire in each year.

The Board considers that the continuity of the office of the Chairman and Managing Director provide the 
Group with a strong and consistent leadership for the smooth operation of the businesses of the Group. 
As a result, the Board concurred that the Chairman and the Managing Director need not be subject to 
retirement by rotation.
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Company Secretary updates Directors on the latest developments and changes to the Listing Rules 
and the applicable legal and regulatory requirements regarding subjects necessary in the discharge of 
their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh 
their knowledge and skills. Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory and 
regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.

Directors are required to submit to the Company annually details of training sessions undertaken by them 
in each financial year for the Company to maintain a training record for its Directors. According to the 
training records maintained by the Company, the training received by each of the Directors during the 
year ended 31 December 2023 is summarised as follows:

Name of Director Type of trainings
  

Executive Directors
Mr. James Sing-Wai Wong A, B
Mr. Yuen-Keung Chan A, B
Mr. Philip Bing-Lun Lam A, B

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Chi-Chiu Wu A, B

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Ronald James Blake A, B
Mr. Anthony King-Yan Tong A, B
Ms. Dee-Dee Chan A, B

A:	 attending seminars/conferences/workshops/forums

B:	 reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy, environmental protection 
business or director’s duties and responsibilities etc.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is collectively responsible for performing the corporate governance duties including:

(a)	 to develop, review and update the Company’s policy and practices on corporate governance;

(b)	 to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors and 
senior management;

(c)	 to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and 
regulatory requirements;

(d)	 to  r e v i ew the  Company ’ s  comp l i ance  w i th  the  CG Code and d i s c l o su re  i n  the  
“Corporate Governance Report”; and

(e)	 to perform such other corporate governance duties and functions set out in the CG Code 
(as amended from time to time) for which the Board is responsible.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers 
(the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.

On specific enquiries made, all Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the required 
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023. Securities interests 
in the Company and its associated corporations held by each of the Directors are set out in the  
“Report of the Directors” on pages 30 to 43 of this Annual Report.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors namely  
Ms. Dee-Dee Chan (chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Anthony King-Yan Tong and  
Mr. Ronald James Blake and two execut ive Directors namely Mr. Yuen-Keung Chan and  
Mr. James Sing-Wai Wong. The role of the Remuneration Committee is to review and recommend to the 
Board on the remuneration packages of all executive Directors.

The Chairman of the Board determines the remuneration of all other executive Directors, taking 
reference to market pay, individual performance and a bonus scheme, which has been in place prior to 
the establishment of the Remuneration Committee. Details of remuneration packages of the executive 
Directors during the year are set out under heading “Directors’ Remuneration” on pages 106 to 107 of 
this Annual Report.

A Remuneration Committee meeting was held in March 2023, during which the remuneration packages 
of all executive Directors for the year have been reviewed individually and the proposal for year 
2023 remuneration adjustment and 2022 bonus distribution were considered. Draft minutes of the 
Remuneration Committee meeting is circulated to members of Remuneration Committee for comments 
and the signed minutes is kept by the Company Secretary.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a remuneration policy for its Directors, which aims to provide a fair market 
level of remuneration to retain and motivate high quality Directors, and attract experienced people of 
high calibre to oversee the business and development of the Group. Pursuant to the remuneration policy, 
the following key principles have been established for the remuneration for both executive Directors’ and 
non-executive Directors’ remuneration/fees (including independent non-executive Directors):

–	 executive Directors’ remuneration packages shall comprise fixed and variable components linking 
to the individual and the Group’s performance and comparable to peer companies, and shall be 
reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board.

–	 non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) shall receive a 
fixed remuneration/fee to be set at an appropriate level by reference to the relevant time 
commitment and the size and complexity of the Group, and shall be reviewed annually by the  
Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board.

–	 authorisation is to be granted from the Company’s shareholders at its annual general meeting to 
determine Directors’ remuneration for each financial year.

–	 no individual is involved in determining his or her own remuneration.

–	 the Remuneration Committee shall inform itself of the current market landscape of remuneration 
practices within the industry by engaging the assistance of the Human Resources department, or if 
it sees fit, to engage an external advisor for this purpose.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 31 December 2021 and it currently comprises three 
independent non-executive Directors namely Ms. Dee-Dee Chan (chairman of the Nomination Committee), 
Mr. Ronald James Blake and Mr. Anthony King-Yan Tong and two executive Directors namely 
Mr. James Sing-Wai Wong and Mr. Philip Bing-Lun Lam.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on the Stock Exchange’s website and 
the Company’s website.

The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size and 
composition of the Board, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Directors, selecting or 
making recommendations to the Board on nominations, appointment or re-appointment of Directors and 
Board succession, and assessing the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

A Nomination Committee meeting was held in March 2023. The major works performed by the 
Nomination Committee during the year included assessing the independence of independent  
non-executive Directors, making recommendation to the Board on the retiring Directors’ eligibility for 
re-election at the annual general meeting and discussing the succession planning of the Board. It also 
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, the board diversity policy and the nomination 
policy, and considered that the said policies were appropriate and effective. Draft minutes of the 
Nomination Committee meeting is circulated to members of Nomination Committee for comments and 
the signed minutes is kept by the Company Secretary.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee currently comprises two independent non-executive Directors namely  
Mr. Anthony King-Yan Tong (chairman of the Audit Committee) and Mr. Ronald James Blake and one 
non-executive Director namely Mr. Chi-Chiu Wu.

The terms of reference for the Audit Committee has been adopted in line with the CG Code. Regular 
meetings have been held by the Audit Committee since establishment and it meets at least twice 
each year to review and supervise the Group’s financial reporting process and internal control. The  
Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and policies adopted by the Company and 
discussed with management and the external auditor the financial reporting matters, to review the 
financial statements of the Group before their submission to the Board for approval and to review the 
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management system of the Group, both the half year results 
for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and the annual results for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The work performed by the Audit Committee during the year ended 31 December 2023 included reviews 
of the following:

–	 the directors’ report and the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 
of the Group, with a recommendation to the Board for approval;

–	 the consolidated financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2023 of the Group, with a 
recommendation to the Board for approval;

–	 the audit fees for the year ended 31 December 2022 proposed by the external auditor, with a 
recommendation to the Board for approval;

–	 the new accounting policies and practices adopted by the Group;

–	 the internal control and risk management system of the Group; and

–	 the litigation cases of the Group.

The Audit Committee met two times during the year. Draft minutes of the Audit Committee meetings 
are circulated to members of Audit Committee for comments and the signed minutes are kept by the 
Company Secretary.
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DIVERSITY OF THE BOARD AND OF THE WORKFORCE

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy, which set out the approach to achieve diversity on the 
Board. When deciding on appointments of board members and continuation of those appointments, the 
Board considers a number of board diversity criteria according to the policy, including but not limited to 
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge 
and length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected 
candidates will bring to the Board. These measurable objectives have been set to ensure that the Board 
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company and will be 
reviewed by the Nomination Committee annually to ensure the continued effectiveness of the Board. The 
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such revisions 
to the Board for consideration and approval.

The Board, with the help of the Nomination Committee, reviewed the structure, size and composition 
of the Board and was satisfied, in general, with diversity of the Board in accordance with the board 
diversity policy. The Board considers that the current Board’s composition reflects an appropriate balance 
of gender, skills, experience and diverse perspectives among its members that complement the Group’s 
strategy and business developments.

To identify potential successors to the Board to maintain the board diversity, the Company would search 
via internal resources and may engage professional search firm as and when required.

Gender
Female Male

1 director 6 directors

Age Group
40-50 51-60 61-70 71 or above

1 director 2 directors 2 directors 2 directors

Length of services 
with board

5 years or below 6 to 10 years 10 to 20 years

2 directors 1 director 4 directors

Capacity
Executive Director

Non-Executive 
Director

Independent Non-Executive Director

3 directors 1 director 3 directors

The Company has also taken, and continues to take steps to promote diversity at all levels of its 
workforce. The Group provides equal opportunity to all employees and does not discriminate on the 
grounds of gender, race, age, nationality, religion, sexual orientation, disability and any other aspects of 
diversity. As at 31 December 2023, the workforce (including senior management) are approximately in 
the 1:0.25 ratio of men to women.
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ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS OF THE BOARD, REMUNERATION, NOMINATION AND AUDIT 
COMMITTEES AND ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Attended/Eligible to attend
During the year ended 31 December 2023

 

Name of Director
Board 

Meetings

Remuneration 
Committee 

Meeting

Nomination 
Committee 

Meeting

Audit 
Committee 

Meetings

Annual 
General 
Meeting 
held on 

2 June 2023
      

Executive Directors
Mr. James Sing-Wai Wong 2/2 N/A 1/1 N/A 1/1
Mr. Yuen-Keung Chan 2/2 1/1 N/A N/A 1/1
Mr. Philip Bing-Lun Lam 2/2 N/A 1/1 N/A 1/1
Dr. James Sai-Wing Wong (retired on 2 June 2023) 0/1 N/A N/A N/A 0/1

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Chi-Chiu Wu (re-designated on 12 January 2024) 2/2 1/1 N/A 2/2 1/1

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Ronald James Blake 2/2 N/A 1/1 2/2 1/1
Mr. Anthony King-Yan Tong 2/2 1/1 1/1 2/2 1/1
Ms. Dee-Dee Chan 1/2 N/A 1/1 N/A 1/1

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has engaged its external auditor, 
Messrs. Ernst & Young, to provide the following services and their respective fees charged are set out as 
follows:

Services rendered Fees paid/payable
HK$’000

  

Audit services 4,046
Non-audit services (review and other services) 1,382
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining the Group’s systems of internal control and 
reviewing their effectiveness. The internal control systems of the Group are designed to provide 
reasonable assurance to minimise risk of failure in operational systems, and to assist in the achievement 
of the Group’s goals. The systems are also structured to safeguard the Group’s assets, to ensure the 
maintenance of proper accounting records and compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations. 
The systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss, and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in the Group’s operational 
systems and in the achievement of the Group’s business objectives. The Group has dedicated internal 
audit function who reviews the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems from 
time to time in order to ensure that they meet with the dynamic and ever changing business environment.

During the year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s internal control system and considered 
the internal audit report with the executive Directors and financial controller. The review covers all 
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management of the 
Group and such systems have been considered reasonably effective and adequate.

The Group regularly reminds the Directors and relevant employees for the compliance of policies 
regarding the inside information, and provide them with update on the appropriate guidelines or policies 
to ensure the compliance with regulatory requirements.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial statements for each financial 
period with a view to ensuring such financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 
of the Group and of the results and cash flows for that period. The Company’s financial statements are 
prepared in accordance with all relevant statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. 
The Directors are responsible for ensuring that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied 
consistently; and that judgments and estimates made are prudent and reasonable. The statement 
of the independent auditor of the Company, Messrs. Ernst & Young, with regard to their reporting 
responsibilities on the Company’s financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on 
pages 44 to 50 of this Annual Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”). Pursuant to which, in considering 
the declaration and payment of dividends, the Board shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its 
working capital requirements and future business growth and take into account the following factors of 
the Group:

a.	 financial results;

b.	 cash flow situation;

c.	 business conditions and strategies;

d.	 future operations and earnings;

e.	 capital requirements and expenditure plans;

f.	 interests of shareholders;

g.	 any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

h.	 any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The Board has discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the shareholders of the Company, subject 
to the Bye-laws and all applicable laws and regulations. The Board will review the Dividend Policy from 
time to time and may exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the 
Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary. There is no assurance that dividends will be paid 
in any particular amount for any given period.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

1.	 The way in which shareholders can convene a special general meeting

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws and Section 74 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, 
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition in aggregate not less than one-tenth 
of the voting rights (on a one vote per share basis) in the share capital of the Company may also 
make a requisition to convene a special general meeting and/or add resolutions to the agenda of 
a meeting. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary, to 
require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business 
specified in such requisition.

The requisition must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the principal place of business 
of the Company at 23rd Floor, Wing On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong (the 
“Principal Place of Business”) for the attention of the Company Secretary.

The requisition will then be verified with the Company’s Branch Share Registrar and Transfer 
Office in Hong Kong and upon its confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the  
Company Secretary will forward the requisition to the Board and the Board shall convene and hold 
such general meeting within two months after the deposit of such requisition. Moreover, if within 
twenty-one days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such general meeting, the 
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of 
them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the 
expiration of three months from the said date.

2.	 Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a director of the Company

Pursuant to bye-law 86 of the Bye-laws, any shareholder (other than the person to be proposed 
for election as a director), who wishes to propose a person other than a retiring Director for 
election as a director of the Company at a general meeting, should lodge a duly signed written 
notice given of his intention to propose such person for election and a notice signed by the person 
to be proposed of his willingness to be elected at the Company’s Principal Place of Business or 
the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office, Tricor Tengis Limited at  
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, shall be at least ten business days 
and that the period for lodgment of such notice(s) shall commence no earlier than the day after the 
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than 
ten business days prior to the date of such general meeting.

3.	 The procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Shareholders and other stakeholders may send their enquiries and concerns in writing to the Board 
by addressing them to the Company Secretary at the Principal Place of Business and the Company 
Secretary shall then forward the same to the appropriate executives of the Company or members in 
the Board for further handling.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

4.	 The procedures for putting forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings

To put forward proposals at an annual general meeting or a special general meeting, the 
shareholders shall submit a written notice of those proposals with the detail contact information 
to the Company Secretary at the Principal Place of Business. The request will be verified with the 
Company’s Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office in Hong Kong and upon its confirmation 
that the request is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to include the 
resolution in the agenda for the general meeting. Moreover, the notice period to be given to all the 
shareholders for consideration of the proposals submitted by the shareholders concerned varies as 
follows pursuant to bye-law 59(1) of the Bye-laws:

(a)	 for an annual general meeting shall be called by not less than twenty-one clear days’ notice; 
and

(b)	 for all special general meetings may be called by not less than fourteen clear days’ notice.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has established a shareholders communication policy and reviews it on a regular basis 
to ensure its effectiveness. The Board recognises the importance of good communications with all 
shareholders and is committed to maintaining a policy of open and timely disclosure of relevant 
information on its attributes to shareholders and other stakeholders through the publication of interim 
and annual reports, public announcements and other public circulars, all of which are available on the 
Company’s website.

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders to exchange views with the Board. 
Shareholders are encouraged to attend the annual general meeting for which not less than twenty-one  
clear days’ prior notice is given. The Chairman of the Board as well as the chairman of the board committees 
(or in their absence, other members of the committees) together with the external auditor are available to 
answer shareholders’ questions at the meeting. At the annual general meeting, each substantially separate 
issue will be considered by a separate resolution, including the election of individual director, and the poll 
procedures will be clearly explained.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders communication policy. 
Having considered the multiple channels of communication and engagement in place, it is satisfied that 
the shareholders communication policy has been properly implemented during the year under review and 
is effective.
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The Directors herein present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries comprise the 
trading of plastic and chemical products, the provision of building related contracting services for both 
public and private sectors, including engineering contracting services in the air-conditioning industry 
and provision of maintenance services, superstructure construction works and foundation piling works 
and sub-structure works for both public and private sectors in Hong Kong and Macau, distribution 
and installation of aviation system and other hi-tech products, property holding and development and 
investment holding. Details of the principal subsidiaries and their activities are set out in note 1 to the 
financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities 
during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the Group’s financial position at that date 
are set out in the financial statements on pages 51 to 153.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK2.50 cents per share for the year ended 
31 December 2023 (2022: HK2.50 cents) to the shareholders of the Company whose names appear 
on the Company’s register of members on 20 June 2024. Upon the shareholders’ approval at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting, it is expected that the final dividend cheques will be despatched to 
the shareholders on or before 11 July 2024.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) is scheduled to be held on 7 June 2024. 
For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the 
Company will be closed from 4 June 2024 to 7 June 2024 (both days inclusive), during which period 
no share transfers will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all 
transfer forms accompanied by relevant share certificates must be lodged with Tricor Tengis Limited at  
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong by no later than 4:30 p.m. on 3 June 2024.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR DIVIDEND

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 is subject to the approval by the 
shareholders of the Company at the AGM. For determining the entitlement to the proposed final 
dividend, the register of members of the Company will be closed from 17 June 2024 to 20 June 2024 
(both days inclusive), during which period no share transfers will be registered. The last day for dealing in 
the Company’s share cum entitlements to the proposed final dividend will be 12 June 2024. In order to 
qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfer forms accompanied by relevant share certificates must 
be lodged with Tricor Tengis Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong by 
no later than 4:30 p.m. on 14 June 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Foundation piling and ground investigation

Chinney Kin Wing Holdings Limited (“Chinney Kin Wing”, together with subsidiaries, the  
“Chinney Kin Wing Group”) contributed revenues of HK$2,119 million (2022: HK$1,801 million) and 
operating profits of HK$142.5 million (2022: HK$116.2 million). The increase in revenue was mainly due 
to the satisfactory progress of certain sizeable foundation contracts, particularly those from the public 
sector which contributed a dominant portion of its Foundation division, while its Drilling division also 
recorded moderate increase in revenue for blooming of site investigation as well as down-the-hole market 
in 2023. The gross profit improved with the increase in revenue with gross profit margin maintained at 
last year’s level of 16.0%. The stabilisation of gross profit margin in both years was due to increased 
tender opportunities in market to allow reasonable mark-up to reflect the complexities and difficulties of 
the foundation construction. The improvement in gross profit was partly offset by the increase in staff 
costs to retain competitive personnel and reward contribution from its staff and senior management.

As at 31 December 2023, Chinney Kin Wing has 17 and 47 projects in progress with contract sums of 
approximately HK$3,857 million and HK$744 million in the Foundation division and Drilling division, 
respectively.

The outlook of the foundation industry is generally positive due to the Government’s ongoing 
infrastructure investment and the increase in the supply of public housing, which will benefit the 
development of the construction sector and hence present new opportunities. The launch of more 
projects in the Northern Metropolis and the release of additional land to address housing needs have all 
contributed to a rise in demand and opportunities for foundation services.

During the year under review, Chinney Kin Wing Group has been awarded a number of foundation 
contracts, which come with short construction lead times and demanding requirements. This places 
significant pressure on the allocation of manpower and machinery. However, Chinney Kin Wing remains 
steadfast in its commitment to delivering quality results. Upon the completion of these projects, a higher 
level of excellence in project management, teamwork, and technical expertise is to be achieved.

On the other hand, the shortage of professional and skilled labour continues to pose challenges to  
Hong Kong’s construction industry. This has led to persistently high staff and labour expenses, putting 
strain on the profit margins. To address this issue, Chinney Kin Wing has made significant investments 
in talent development. In 2022, the Chinney Kin Wing Academy (the “Academy”) was established with 
the aim of grooming the next generation of talent for the foundation industry. The Academy provides 
comprehensive training for new recruits, facilitates the sharing of industry knowledge, and promotes skill 
development among existing staff under the guidance of department heads, aligning with its mission to 
prioritise people and pass on foundation operational knowledge.

Furthermore, technology development will play a crucial role in ensuring worker safety. Chinney Kin Wing 
is committed to developing advanced technologies for enhanced site monitoring and safety operations, as 
well as meeting stringent safety standards. With its expertise and capabilities in this area, we believe more 
tender projects will be secured in the coming years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Foundation piling and ground investigation (continued)

Our subsidiaries, DrilTech (accredited with the Koden Test under The Hong Kong Laboratory 
Accreditation Scheme (HOKLAS)) and Everest Engineering Company Limited (“Everest”), continue to 
contribute significantly to our business results. In 2023, DrilTech successfully secured several sizeable 
site investigation tenders, including the Route 11 section between Yuen Long and North Lautau, as 
well as the Relocation of Yau Tong Group Fresh Water and Salt Water Service Reservoirs to Caverns, 
despite the slowdown in the site investigation market. As a leading drilling specialist contractor, DrilTech 
has managed these tenders with good progress and is expected to yield promising income returns 
in the upcoming year. The strategic expansion of DrilTech’s laboratory testing licenses, covering site 
investigation, instrumentation, marine ground investigation, directional coring, and field testing, has 
hence proven to be fruitful. Everest actively explores growth opportunities in site formation, civil works, 
roads, and drainage projects. By obtaining various licenses, Everest can undertake a wider range of 
projects, effectively diversifying our revenue streams.

Additionally, Chinney Kin Wing has set up an environment, social and governance (“ESG”) committee 
comprising senior management to address various ESG initiatives. The committee holds monthly meetings 
to discuss key responsibilities, including the submission of carbon emission data reports from all 
departments, ensuring employee welfare and benefits, promoting social engagement through community 
activities such as visiting nursing homes and patients, and prioritising safety management to reduce 
work-related injuries and fatalities. By adopting this holistic approach, Chinney Kin Wing endeavours 
to align its operations with ESG principles, actively contributing to a sustainable future while providing 
utmost value to our esteemed shareholders.

Looking ahead, Chinney Kin Wing remains cautiously optimistic about the prospects of the foundation 
industry in Hong Kong, driven by long-term land and housing development. The management will 
actively explore new opportunities in its core businesses and seek diversification to balance risks and 
opportunities, ensuring satisfactory long-term returns for our valued shareholders.

In the new financial year, Chinney Kin Wing will dedicate extra efforts in advancing its information 
technology and office automation capabilities, aiming to enhance productivity and efficiency by reducing 
manual tasks and optimising time management practices. The 30th anniversary marks a significant 
milestone for Chinney Kin Wing, and the management is fully committed to upholding its mission 
and core values, ushering in a new chapter for the business. Leveraging its experience, expertise, and 
solid leadership, Chinney Kin Wing will forge ahead in all its business interests while actively seeking 
opportunities to reinforce its market position and foster sustainable growth.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Trading of plastics and chemical products

Jacobson van den Berg (Hong Kong) Limited and its fellow subsidiaries (“Jacobson”) generated revenues 
of HK$406 million (2022: HK$451 million) and a minimal operating loss of HK$0.2 million (2022: profit 
of HK$7.6 million). Weaker global demand and challenges in cross-border land transport capacity have 
had a negative impact on the export performance of Mainland China and Hong Kong in 2023. While the 
primary customers in this segment are export-oriented, the softening external demand has resulted in a 
reasonable decline in sales volume and value in the plastic trading business. Despite these challenges, 
the sales of JcoNAT disinfectant and hygiene products have remained steady. Additionally, there is a 
growing focus on hygiene and cleanliness, boosting demand for natural and sustainable products. This 
shift is expected to drive steady sector growth. Jacobson’s management continues to leverage this trend 
by introducing more green plastic products and exploring new wellness offerings to expand the product 
portfolio.

Building related contracting services

The Shun Cheong Engineering Group (“Shun Cheong”) contributed revenues of HK$2,262 million (2022: 
HK$2,349 million) with an operating loss of HK$15.0 million (2022: profit of HK$11.5 million) from its 
electrical, HVAC, fire services and pump and drainage businesses. The progress of the major projects of 
the segment was slower than expected in 2023 due to slow progress of the main contract works and the 
revenues decreased slightly. Although the gross profit was improved by higher profit margin of certain 
new projects, the segment had to bear the higher staff costs without Government’s subsidies from 
Employment Support Scheme in prior years. Worsen by the higher finance costs, the segment recorded 
a loss. More tender opportunities are expected due to the Government’s commitment to providing up 
to 410,000 public housing units over the next 10-year period along with the 10 redevelopment projects 
by the Hong Kong Housing Authority. However, there may be challenges such as project delays in 
major infrastructure works, increased costs for materials, labour and energy, and the impact of high 
interest rates. These factors could lead to a decrease in both revenues and profit margins. However,  
Shun Cheong’s management remains committed to reviewing and improving project execution planning 
and procurement schedules to enhance operational efficiency and project profitability.

As at 31 December 2023, the segment had outstanding contract sums of approximately HK$4,331 million, 
with additional HK$205 million worth contracts awarded subsequent to the year-end.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Building construction

The Group’s building construction segment, which consists of Chinney Construction Company, Limited 
(“Chinney Construction”) and Chinney Builders Company Limited, which operate in Hong Kong, and 
Chinney Timwill Construction (Macau) Company Limited (“Chinney Timwill”), contributed revenues of 
HK$888 million (2022: HK$948 million) and recorded an operating profit of HK$11.0 million (2022: 
loss of HK$21.4 million). The improvement was mainly due to contribution from its Hong Kong projects 
and variation orders granted for its major Macau projects in the second half of 2023. For the Hong 
Kong operation, with some major non-residential projects awarded in 2023, the segment is expecting 
to perform satisfactory in the coming years. On the other hand, the Macau construction industry is set 
for a strong recovery in 2024, driven by investments in manufacturing, transport, renewable energy, and 
housing, aligning with the Government’s diversification goals. The industry’s robust recovery is also due in 
part to a thriving tourism sector and an influx of international tourists, increasing demand for commercial 
and hospitality infrastructure, and pent up of demand during the pandemic. Moreover, the 2024 Policy 
Address includes plans for airport expansion through land reclamation and refurbishing historic buildings 
to promote cultural tourism. As the segment’s major customers in Macau are in the leisure and hospitality 
sector, these initiatives create more tender opportunities for Chinney Timwill in Macau.

As at 31 December 2023, the outstanding contract sum stood at approximately HK$1,885 million.

Aviation business

Our Aviation segment under Chinney Alliance Engineering Limited (“CAE”) recorded revenues of HK$306 million 
(2022: HK$350 million) and an operating profit of HK$6.2 million (2022: HK$7.4 million). The decrease 
in revenue and operating profit was mainly attributable to the slower than expected progress of the 
segment’s airport and related projects, as well as the increase in staff costs and overheads to cope with 
the increased size of projects on hand and higher finance costs. The segment continues the works for 
the airport related projects smoothly and with satisfactory level of new projects awarded during the year 
under review. With the increase in tender opportunities for the airport and related projects in the region, 
the segment will likely further enhance its long-term profitability.

Other businesses

The segment includes property held for sale under development which is located in Fanling near the 
railway station and still at planning stage, certain properties held for the Group’s own use and certain 
investment properties. The losses of the segment were mainly attributable to write-down of the property 
held for sale under development of HK$16.0 million with the downturn of the local residential property 
market, as well depreciation and other overheads of the Group’s properties held for own use.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to build an environmental-friendly corporation with the aim to conserve natural 
resources. The Group has taken initiatives to reduce energy consumption and encourage recycle of office 
supplies and other materials. The Group will continue to review and promote its environmental policies.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no breach of or non-compliance with applicable 
laws and regulations by the Group that have significant impact on the business and operations of the 
Group.

Relationship with employees, customers and suppliers

The Group’s relationships with its employees are set out in the “Employees and remuneration policies” 
section below.

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining good relationships with business partners, 
customers, suppliers and sub-contractors to achieve its long-term business growth and development. 
Accordingly, the Group has kept good communications and shared business updates with them when 
appropriate.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and financial resources

Total interest-bearing debts for the Group at the end of the reporting period amounted to HK$773.6 million 
(31 December 2022: HK$539.5 million). These include trust receipt loans, bank loans and lease liabilities. 
Current liabilities made up 93.3% (31 December 2022: 90.3%) of all these interest-bearing debts. The current 
ratio stood at 1.4 (31 December 2022: 1.5). Total cash and cash equivalents, represented by unpledged cash 
and bank balances were HK$1,071.0 million as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: HK$760.7 million).

The Group had a total of HK$2,701 million undrawn facilities extended from banks and financial institutions 
at year-end available for its working capital, trade finance and issue of performance/surety bonds. The gearing 
ratio of the Group, measured by total interest-bearing borrowings of HK$773.6 million over the equity 
attributable to the owners of the Company of HK$2,105.8 million, was 36.7% as at 31 December 2023 
(31 December 2022: 25.9%).

The Group prudently manages its financial positions and has sufficient liquidity to sustain projects and 
operations for the foreseeable future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Funding and treasury policy

The Group maintains a prudent funding and treasury policy. Surplus funds are maintained in the form 
of cash deposits with leading banks. Borrowings are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and bear 
interest at floating rates. Forward contracts of a non-speculative nature are entered to hedge the foreign 
currency trade purchase commitments of the Group when desirable.

Pledge of assets

As of 31 December 2023, certain properties having an aggregate book value of HK$139.0 million and 
property held for sale under development of HK$102.4 million were pledged to banks to secure bank 
loans and general banking facilities extended to the Group.

Contingent liability

As of 31 December 2023, the Group provided corporate guarantees and indemnities to certain banks and 
financial institutions to secure performance/surety bonds in the aggregate amount of HK$669.4 million  
issued in favour of the Group’s clients in its ordinary course of business. This amount included performance/surety 
bonds issued in favour of the clients of the Chinney Kin Wing Group of HK$230.6 million to which corporate 
guarantees and indemnities were provided by Chinney Kin Wing Group.

Except as disclosed above, the Group had no other material contingent liabilities as of 31 December 2023.

Employees and remuneration policies

The Group employed approximately 1,830 staff in Hong Kong and other parts of the PRC as of 
31 December 2023. Remuneration packages are reviewed annually and determined by reference to 
market pay and individual performance. In addition to salary payments and year-end discretionary 
bonuses, the Group also provides other employment benefits including medical insurance cover, provident 
fund and educational subsidies to eligible staff.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results, assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the 
last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out below.

RESULTS

Year ended 31 December
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

REVENUE 5,981,640 5,898,359 6,799,821 4,941,712 5,219,559
     

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 56,447 14,286 94,370 143,753 143,779
     

Attributable to:
– Owners of the Company 25,734 (10,197) 77,379 124,084 130,983
– Non-controlling interests 30,713 24,483 16,991 19,669 12,796

     

56,447 14,286 94,370 143,753 143,779
     

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

As at 31 December
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

TOTAL ASSETS 5,573,294 4,835,896 4,935,496 4,280,337 3,954,661

TOTAL LIABILITIES (3,280,443) (2,583,319) (2,667,911) (2,148,004) (1,902,915)

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (187,021) (167,381) (146,900) (130,217) (123,259)
     

2,105,830 2,085,196 2,120,685 2,002,116 1,928,487
     

The information set out above does not form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in the Company’s share capital during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would 
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SHARES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed 
shares during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the 
Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the 
duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ 
and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group throughout the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the laws of Bermuda, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders amounted 
to HK$326,520,000 as at 31 December 2023, of which HK$14,872,000 has been proposed as a 
final dividend for the year. In addition, the Company’s share premium account, in the amount of 
HK$60,978,000, may be distributed to shareholders of the Company in the form of fully paid bonus 
shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 41% of 
the total sales for the year. Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% 
of the total purchases for the year.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders of the Company (which, to the best 
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial 
interest in the Group’s five largest customers during the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

James Sing-Wai Wong (Chairman)
Yuen-Keung Chan (Vice Chairman and Managing Director)
Philip Bing-Lun Lam
James Sai-Wing Wong (retired on 2 June 2023)

Non-Executive Director

Chi-Chiu Wu (re-designated on 12 January 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ronald James Blake
Anthony King-Yan Tong
Dee-Dee Chan

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation 
of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and still considers them as independent.
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RE-ELECTION OF RETIRING DIRECTOR

In accordance with bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Chi Chiu Wu (“Mr. Wu”) who was appointed 
subsequent to the last AGM, will hold office until the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer himself 
for re-election.

In accordance with bye-law 85 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Ronald James Blake (“Mr. Blake”) will retire by 
rotation at the forthcoming AGM. Mr. Blake, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election.

The proposed re-election of Mr. Blake as independent non-executive Director was made in accordance 
with the nomination policy of the Company and took into account a wide range of diversity perspectives, 
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional 
experience, skills, knowledge and length of services, with due regard of the benefits of diversity as set out 
under the board diversity policy of the Company.

The Nomination Committee had also assessed and reviewed the written confirmation of independence of 
Mr. Blake based on the independence criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and is satisfied 
that as at the date of this report, Mr. Blake remained independent in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the 
Listing Rules.

In addition, the Nomination Committee has evaluated the performance of Mr. Blake and is of the view 
that Mr. Blake has provided valuable contributions to the Company and has demonstrated his abilities to 
provide independent, balanced and objective view to the Company’s affairs. The Nomination Committee 
is also of the view that Mr. Blake would bring to the Board his own perspective, skills and experience, 
as further described in his biography as set out on page 14 of this Annual Report, and can contribute 
to the diversity of the Board taking into account his diversified educational background and professional 
experience. The Board, with the recommendation of Nomination Committee, believes that the re-election 
of Mr. Blake as the independent non-executive Director would be in the best interests of the Company 
and its shareholders as a whole and recommends his re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 12 to 
16 of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director has a service contract with any member of the Group which is not determinable within one 
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the executive Directors is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee having regard 
to the Company’s operating results, individual performance of the Directors and comparable market 
statistics. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Except as disclosed in note 37 to the financial statements and the section “Connected transactions” 
below, no Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a material interest, either directly or 
indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the Group to 
which the Company, its holding company, or any of the Company’s subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was 
a party during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has the followings connected transactions during the year:

(a)	 On 12 July 2018, Chinney Construction, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 
entered into a framework agreement with Gold Famous Development Limited (“Gold Famous”), 
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Hon Kwok and an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Chinney Investments, as the employer for the construction works to be carried out by  
Chinney Construction as the main contractor for the construction and development of a data centre 
at K.C.T.L. 495, Kin Chuen Street, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong at a total contract sum of 
HK$757,838,691.70 (the “Construction Framework Agreement”). The entering into the Construction 
Framework Agreement constituted a connected transaction of each of Chinney Investments,  
Hon Kwok and the Company under the Listing Rules. The transaction was approved by independent 
shareholders of Chinney Investments, Hon Kwok and the Company at their respective general meetings 
held on 24 August 2018.

Details of the transaction were set out in the joint announcement of Chinney Investments, Hon Kwok 
and the Company dated 12 July 2018 and a circular of the Company dated 8 August 2018. Revenues of 
HK$4,414,000 were recognised by Chinney Construction during the year ended 31 December 2023.

(b)	 On 26 September 2022, Chinney Construction and Shun Cheong Building Services Limited  
(“SC Building Services”), both being indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, 
entered into a f ramework agreement ( the “Revamp Framework Agreement”) wi th 
Honour Well Development Limited (“Honour Well”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Hon Kwok and an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of Chinney Investments, pursuant to 
which, Chinney Construction was appointed by Honour Well as the contractor for the builder’s 
works at the contract sum of not exceeding HK$96,300,000 and SC Building Services was 
appointed by Honour Well as the contractor for the mechanical and electrical engineering 
works and façade works at the contract sum of not exceeding HK$141,000,000 relating to 
the revamp project of the building located at 119-121 Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan,  
Hong Kong. The entering into the Revamp Framework Agreement constituted a connected 
transaction of each of Chinney Investments, Hon Kwok and the Company under the Listing Rules. 
The transaction was approved by independent shareholders of Chinney Investments, Hon Kwok and 
the Company at their respective general meetings held on 28 November 2022.

Details of the transactions were set out in the joint announcement of Chinney Investments, 
Hon Kwok and the Company dated 26 September 2022 and the Company’s circular dated 
8 November 2022. Revenues of HK$48,268,000 were recognised by Chinney Construction and 
SC Building Services in respect of the transactions during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND 
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors had registered an interest or short position in the 
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the 
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) that was required to be recorded 
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or 
debentures of the Company granted to any of the Directors or their respective spouses or minor children, 
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any 
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed, no contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business in which the Company, 
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, or its parent company was a party and in which a Director 
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the year.



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Chinney Alliance Group Limited    Annual Report 202342

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of those persons in the shares and underlying 
shares of the Company as recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company under 
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

Name Notes
Capacity and 

nature of interest

Number of 
ordinary 

shares held

Percentage of 
the Company’s 

issued share 
capital

     

James Sai-Wing Wong 1, 2, 3 Interest through 
controlled corporations

438,334,216 73.68%

Lucky Year Finance Limited 1 Interest through a 
controlled corporation

173,093,695 29.10%

Chinney Holdings Limited 1 Interest through a 
controlled corporation

173,093,695 29.10%

Chinney Investments 1 Interest through a 
controlled corporation 

173,093,695 29.10%

Newsworthy Resources Limited 1 Interest through a 
controlled corporation

173,093,695 29.10%

Multi-Investment Group Limited 1 Beneficial owner 173,093,695 29.10%

Enhancement Investments Limited 2 Beneficial owner 243,244,521 40.89%

Notes:

1.	 Dr. James Sai-Wing Wong, Lucky Year Finance Limited, Chinney Holdings Limited, Chinney Investments, 
Newsworthy Resources Limited and Multi-Investment Group Limited are deemed to be interested in the same 
parcel of 173,093,695 shares by virtue of Section 316 of the SFO;

2.	 Enhancement Investments Limited is beneficially wholly-owned by Dr. James Sai-Wing Wong; and

3.	 21,996,000 shares are held by Chinney Capital Limited, which is beneficial ly wholly-owned by  
Dr. James Sai-Wing Wong.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no person had registered an interest or short position 
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to 
Section 336 of the SFO.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the 
Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total number of issued shares were held by the public as at the 
date of this report.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed 
at the forthcoming AGM.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
Yuen-Keung Chan

Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Ernst & Young
27/F, One Taikoo Place
979, King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

Tel電話：+852 2846 9888
Fax傳真：+852 2868 4432
ey.com

安永會計師事務所
香港鰂魚涌英皇道979號
太古坊一座27樓

To the shareholders of Chinney Alliance Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chinney Alliance Group Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 51 to 153, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance 
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the  
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the 
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed 
in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our 
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the consolidated financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. 
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit 
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our 
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.



Annual Report 2023    Chinney Alliance Group Limited 45

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition for construction 
contracts

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the 
Group recognised revenue from construction 
c o n t r a c t i n g  b u s i n e s s e s  a m o u n t i n g  t o 
HK$5,460,345,000.

The Group has recognised revenue from the 
provision of construction services over time, 
using an input method to measure progress 
towards complete satisfaction of the service, 
because the Group’s performance creates or 
enhances an asset that the customer controls 
as the asset is created or enhanced. The input 
method recognises revenue based on the 
proportion of the actual costs incurred relative 
to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of 
the construction services.

Th i s  invo l ves  the use o f  management 
judgements and est imation uncertainty, 
including estimating the progress towards 
completion of the services, scope of deliveries 
and services required, total contract costs 
incurred, forecasting the costs to complete 
a contract , va lu ing contract var iat ions, 
claims and potential liquidated damages and 
estimating the provision for onerous contracts.

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3.2 
and 5 to the financial statements.

We performed the following procedures in relation to 
revenue recognition for construction services:

•	 evaluating the significant judgements made by 
management, through an examination of project 
documentation, key contracts and variation 
orders;

•	 d i scuss ing the s ta tus  o f  p ro jec t s  under 
construction, including estimated costs to 
completion, assessment of potential liquidated 
damages for major contracts and provision for 
onerous contracts with management, finance, 
and technical personnel of the Group;

•	 testing the controls of the Group over its 
processes to record/estimate contract revenue, 
actual costs incurred and the estimated total 
costs;

•	 checking, on a sampling basis, the payment 
certificates issued by the architects employed by 
contract customers, payment applications from 
subcontractors and invoices from suppliers; and

•	 check ing  the  e s t ima ted to ta l  co s t s  fo r 
satisfaction of the construction contracts to 
the subcontractors and suppliers’ quotations, 
and comparing the actual costs incurred with 
the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the 
construction services to assess the status of the 
projects on a sampling basis.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade 
receivables and contract assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group recorded 
trade receivables and contract assets of 
HK$777,088,000 and HK$1,918,364,000, 
respectively.

The measurement on the Group’s trade 
receivables and contract assets under the 
expected credit loss (“ECL”) approach was 
est imated by management through the 
application of management judgements and 
estimations.

The credit terms granted by the Group to 
the customers generally up to two months. 
Management performs periodic assessments 
on the recoverability of trade receivables and 
contract assets based on information including 
credit profiles of different customers, ageing 
of trade receivables, historical settlement 
records, subsequent settlement or bill ing 
status, expected t iming and amount of 
realisation of outstanding balances, and  
on-going trading relat ionships with the 
relevant customers.

Management also considers forward-looking 
information that may impact the customers’ 
ability to repay the outstanding balances in 
order to estimate the expected credit losses 
for the impairment assessment.

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3.2, 
24 and 27 to the financial statements.

We performed the following procedures in relation 
to impairment assessment of trade receivables and 
contract assets:

•	 assessing and testing the Group’s processes 
and controls relating to the monitoring of trade 
receivables and contract assets; and

•	 evaluating the expected credit loss provisioning 
methodology, key data inputs and assumptions, 
including both historical and forward-looking 
information, used to determine the expected 
credit losses by taking into account factors such 
as historical settlement pattern, ageing of trade 
receivables, subsequent settlements of trade 
receivables and subsequent transfers of contract 
assets to trade receivables, data of the gross 
domestic product and consumer price index 
used in forward-looking information, and other 
relevant information on a sampling basis.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)



Annual Report 2023    Chinney Alliance Group Limited 47

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Recoverability of a property held for sale 
under development

The Group had a property held for sale 
under development of HK$102,382,000 as at 
31 December 2023. The carrying amount of 
the property held for sale under development 
is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. During the year, a write down of a 
property held for sale under development to 
net realisable value of HK$16,000,000 was 
recorded in profit or loss.

Determination of net realisable value of the 
property held for sale under development 
involved critical accounting estimates on the 
selling price, costs to make the sale and the 
costs to completion. Given the significant 
balance of the property held for sale under 
development and the involvement of critical 
accounting estimates, assessment of net 
realisable value of the property held for sale 
under development is considered as a key 
audit matter.

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3.2 
and 23 to the financial statements.

We performed the following procedures in relation 
to recoverability of a property held for sale under 
development:

•	 o b t a i n i n g  a n  u n d e r s t a n d i n g  o f  t h e 
management’s internal control and process 
of the assessment of the recoverability of a 
property held for sale under development;

•	 evaluating the property construction cycle with 
particular focus on, but not limited to, reviewing 
the cost budgeting for estimated costs to 
completion;

•	 evaluating management’s assessment about 
the estimated selling price less the estimated 
cost to make the sale and the estimated cost 
to completion by checking the recent market 
transaction prices of properties with comparable 
locations and conditions, where applicable; and

•	 compar ing the latest est imated costs to 
comple t ion to  the budget  approved by 
management and examining the supporting 
document such as construction contracts, 
internal correspondences and approvals.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for 
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company 
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for 
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility 
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to 
cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to 
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Ip Hing Lam.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
26 March 2024
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Year ended 31 December 2023

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

REVENUE 5 5,981,640 5,898,359

Cost of sales/services provided (5,321,381) (5,328,840)
  

Gross profit 660,259 569,519

Other income 5 25,942 6,277
Selling and distribution costs (16,287) (23,903)
Administrative expenses (533,296) (517,737)
Other operating income/(expense), net 6 (9,903) 28,776
Changes in fair value of investment properties, net 15 (11,122) (2,051)
Deficit from revaluation of property, plant and equipment 14 (1,258) (5,418)
Finance costs 7 (38,255) (18,701)

  

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8 76,080 36,762

Income tax expense 11 (19,633) (22,476)
  

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 56,447 14,286
  

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 25,734 (10,197)
Non-controlling interests 30,713 24,483

  

56,447 14,286
  

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 13

Basic and diluted HK4.3 cents HK(1.7) cents
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Year ended 31 December 2023

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 56,447 14,286
  

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

Other comprehensive loss that may be reclassified  
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 
and net other comprehensive loss that may be  
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods (2,135) (20,333)

  

Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified  
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Surplus on revaluation of leasehold land and owned 
buildings 14 14,927 14,327

Income tax effect 33 (1,979) (1,971)
  

12,948 12,356
  

Change in fair value of an equity investment at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 509 780

  

Net other comprehensive income that will not be  
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods 13,457 13,136

  

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)  
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX 11,322 (7,197)

  

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 67,769 7,089
  

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 35,506 (19,129)
Non-controlling interests 32,263 26,218

  

67,769 7,089
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31 December 2023

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 14 1,111,906 1,106,137
Investment properties 15 104,726 117,439
Investment in an associate 17 121 121
Investment in a joint venture 18 – –
Equity investment at fair value through  

other comprehensive income 19 7,726 7,217
Goodwill 20 14,369 14,369
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 21 28,544 26,578
Deposits 26 2,745 12,354
Deferred tax assets 32 7,636 3

  

Total non-current assets 1,277,773 1,284,218
  

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 22 49,746 85,369
Property held for sale under development 23 102,382 73,485
Contract assets 27 1,918,364 1,502,671
Trade receivables 24 777,088 814,871
Amount due from a related company 25 11,039 9,651
Amount due from a joint venture 18 – 967
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 26 356,861 284,780
Tax recoverable 9,042 19,222
Cash and cash equivalents 28 1,070,999 760,662

  

Total current assets 4,295,521 3,551,678
  

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade, bills and retention monies payables 29 954,560 773,023
Trust receipt loans 32 324,343 132,895
Other payables and accruals 30 1,453,329 1,166,285
Tax payable 16,597 17,456
Derivative financial instruments 31 99 –
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 32 389,983 349,755
Lease liabilities 16 7,595 4,429

  

Total current liabilities 3,146,506 2,443,843
  

NET CURRENT ASSETS 1,149,015 1,107,835
  

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,426,788 2,392,053
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31 December 2023

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities 16 51,705 52,432
Deferred tax liabilities 33 82,232 87,044

  

Total non-current liabilities 133,937 139,476
  

Net assets 2,292,851 2,252,577
  

EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Issued capital 34 59,490 59,490
Reserves 35 2,046,340 2,025,706

  

2,105,830 2,085,196
Non-controlling interests 187,021 167,381

  

Total equity 2,292,851 2,252,577
  

On behalf of the Board On behalf of the Board
James Sing-Wai Wong Yuen-Keung Chan

Director Director
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Year ended 31 December 2023

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to owners of the Company
 

Issued 
capital

Share 
premium
 account

Contributed
 surplus

Asset 
revaluation 

reserve

Fair value 
reserve 

(non-
recycling)

Legal 
reserve

Exchange
 fluctuation 

reserve
Retained 

profits Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

            

At 1 January 2022 59,490 60,978 120,946 343,076 3,394 1,505 10,228 1,521,068 2,120,685 146,900 2,267,585

Profit for the year – – – – – – – (10,197) (10,197) 24,483 14,286

Other comprehensive income  
for the year:
Surplus on revaluation of 

leasehold land and owned 
buildings, net of tax – – – 10,621 – – – – 10,621 1,735 12,356

Exchange differences related 
to foreign operations – – – – – – (20,333) – (20,333) – (20,333)

Change in fair value of 
an equity investment at 
fair value through other 
comprehensive income – – – – 780 – – – 780 – 780

           

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – 10,621 780 – (20,333) (10,197) (19,129) 26,218 7,089

Release of revaluation reserve 
on leasehold land and owned 
buildings to retained profits – – – (12,963) – – – 12,963 – – –

Dividends paid to  
non-controlling shareholders – – – – – – – – – (5,737) (5,737)

Final 2021 dividend declared – – – – – – – (16,360) (16,360) – (16,360)
           

At 31 December 2022 59,490 60,978* 120,946* 340,734* 4,174* 1,505* (10,105)* 1,507,474* 2,085,196 167,381 2,252,577
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to owners of the Company
 

Issued 
capital

Share 
premium
 account

Contributed
 surplus

Asset 
revaluation 

reserve

Fair value 
reserve 

(non-
recycling)

Legal 
reserve

Exchange
 fluctuation 

reserve
Retained 

profits Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

            

At 1 January 2023 59,490 60,978 120,946 340,734 4,174 1,505 (10,105) 1,507,474 2,085,196 167,381 2,252,577

Profit for the year – – – – – – – 25,734 25,734 30,713 56,447

Other comprehensive income  
for the year:
Surplus on revaluation of 

leasehold land and owned 
buildings, net of tax – – – 11,398 – – – – 11,398 1,550 12,948

Exchange differences related  
to foreign operations – – – – – – (2,135) – (2,135) – (2,135)

Change in fair value of 
an equity investment at 
fair value through other 
comprehensive income – – – – 509 – – – 509 – 509

           

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – 11,398 509 – (2,135) 25,734 35,506 32,263 67,769

Release of revaluation reserve 
on leasehold land and owned 
buildings to retained profits – – – (13,525) – – – 13,525 – – –

Dividends paid to  
non-controlling shareholders – – – – – – – – – (12,623) (12,623)

Final 2022 dividend declared 
(note 12) – – – – – – – (14,872) (14,872) – (14,872)

           

At 31 December 2023 59,490 60,978* 120,946* 338,607* 4,683* 1,505* (12,240)* 1,531,861* 2,105,830 187,021 2,292,851
           

*	 These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$2,046,340,000 (2022: HK$2,025,706,000) in 
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 76,080 36,762
Adjustments for:

Finance costs 7 38,255 18,701
Investment income from financial assets at fair value 

through profit of loss 5 (863) –
Fair value loss on derivative financial instruments 6 99 –
Fair value changes in financial assets at fair value  

through profit or loss 6 (1,136) (3,725)
Changes in fair value of investment properties, net 15 11,122 2,051
Deficit from revaluation of property, plant and equipment 14 1,258 5,418
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  

(excluding right-of-use assets) 8 85,025 85,868
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8 37,381 36,555
Impairment of trade receivables 6 111 9,458
Impairment of contract assets 6 10,265 –
Impairment of amount due from a joint venture 6 967 –
Write-down of property held for sale under development 

to net realisable value 8 16,000 36,000
Provision for inventories 8 505 5,104
Transfer of items of property, plant and equipment to 

costs of construction contracts 14 7,225 2,620
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant, and 

equipment, net 6 92 3
Interest income 5 (21,128) (3,024)

  

261,258 231,791

Decrease in inventories 35,118 5,725
Increase in property held for sale under development (42,142) (1,068)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets (425,958) 151,154
Decrease in trade receivables 37,672 10,645
Decrease/(increase) in an amount due from a related 

company (1,388) 8,461
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other receivables (62,472) (57,124)
Increase/(decrease) in trade, bills and  

retention monies payables 181,537 (312,804)
Increase in other payables and accruals 287,044 246,016

  

Cash generated from operations 270,669 282,796
Interest received 21,128 3,024
Interest paid (41,010) (20,194)
Dividends paid (14,872) (16,360)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders (12,623) (5,737)
Hong Kong profits tax paid, net (24,574) (26,477)
Overseas taxes paid (162) (12,296)

  

Net cash flows from operating activities 198,556 204,756
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (113,095) (71,473)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property,  

plant and equipment 503 158
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through  

profit or loss (820) (2,858)
Distribution from financial assets at fair value  

through profit or loss 877 –
  

Net cash flows used in investing activities (112,535) (74,173)
  

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Increase in trust receipt loans 39(b) 191,448 12,917
New bank loans 39(b) 340,026 330,505
Repayment of bank loans 39(b) (299,798) (349,412)
Principal portion of lease payments 39(b) (7,403) (5,526)

  

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities 224,273 (11,516)
  

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 310,294 119,067
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 760,662 648,837
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 43 (7,242)

  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 1,070,999 760,662
  

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND  
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances 28 533,750 537,664
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity of  

less than three months when acquired 28 537,249 222,998
  

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the  
consolidated statement of cash flows 1,070,999 760,662
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.	 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Chinney Alliance Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated 
in Bermuda with its shares listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 
Exchange”). The registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, 
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda, and the Company’s head office and principal place of business is 
located at 23rd Floor, Wing On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was engaged in the following principal activities:

•	 trading of plastic and chemical products

•	 provision of building related contracting services for both public and private sectors, 
including engineering contracting services in the air-conditioning industry and provision of 
maintenance services

•	 superstructure construction works for both public and private sectors in Hong Kong and 
Macau

•	 foundation piling, and drilling and site investigation for both public and private sectors in 
Hong Kong and Macau

•	 distribution and installation of aviation system and other hi-tech products

•	 property holding and development and investment holding

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name

Place of 
incorporation/

registration 
and business

Issued 
ordinary 

share/registered 
share capital

Percentage of 
equity interest 
attributable to 
the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect
      

Apex Aluminium Fabricator 
Company Limited

Hong Kong HK$9,452,000 – 100 Contracting of building 
aluminium works

Apex Curtain Wall and  
Windows Company Limited

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Contracting of building 
aluminium works

Best Treasure Limited British Virgin 
Islands

US$1 – 100 Investment holding

Chinney Alliance Corporate 
Treasury Limited

Hong Kong HK$2 – 100 Treasury function
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Name

Place of 
incorporation/

registration 
and business

Issued 
ordinary 

share/registered 
share capital

Percentage of 
equity interest 
attributable to 
the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect
      

Chinney Alliance Engineering 
Limited

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Distribution and installation of 
aviation system, mechanical, 
electrical and building 
supplies, and other hi-tech 
products

Chinney Alliance Trading  
(BVI) Limited

British  
Virgin Islands

HK$360,001 100 – Investment holding

Chinney Builders Company 
Limited

Hong Kong HK$2 – 100 Building construction

Chinney Construction  
(BVI) Limited

British Virgin 
Islands

US$10,000 – 100 Investment holding

Chinney Construction Company, 
Limited

Hong Kong HK$22,200,000 – 100 Building construction

Chinney Construction Group 
Limited

British  
Virgin Islands

US$1 – 100 Investment holding

Chinney Electrical Supplies 
Limited

Hong Kong HK$100,000 – 100 Trading of electrical,  
air-conditioning and other 
building supplies products

Chinney Kin Wing Holdings 
Limited (“Chinney Kin Wing”)#

Bermuda HK$150,000,000 74.5 – Investment holding

Chinney Kin Wing Property 
Limited

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 74.5 Investment holding

Chinney Shun Cheong Building 
Services Engineering Limited

Hong Kong HK$100 – 100 Installation and maintenance of  
air-conditioning, extra 
low voltage, waste water 
treatment, water pumps and 
fire prevention and fighting 
systems

1.	 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
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Name

Place of 
incorporation/

registration 
and business

Issued 
ordinary 

share/registered 
share capital

Percentage of 
equity interest 
attributable to 
the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect
      

Chinney Shun Cheong E&M 
(Shenzhen) Company Limited*

People’s 
Republic of 

China (“PRC”)

RMB25,000,000 – 100 Trading of building decoration 
materials and electrical and 
mechanical equipment

Chinney Shun Cheong  
Investment Co. Ltd.

Macau MOP100,000 – 100 Trading of generators, electrical 
and mechanical engineering 
materials and equipment

Chinney Tim Wai Co., Ltd. Macau MOP25,000 – 100 Property holding

Chinney Timfai Construction 
(Macau) Company Limited

Macau MOP1,500,000 – 100 Property holding

Chinney Timwill Construction 
(Macau) Company Limited

Macau MOP1,500,000 – 100 Building construction and 
foundation piling

CKW Machinery Limited (formerly 
known as Kin Wing Machinery 
& Transportation Limited)

Hong Kong HK$100 – 74.5 Equipment and machinery 
leasing

DMT-Jacobson Holdings Limited British  
Virgin Islands

US$2,000,000 – 100 Investment holding

DrilTech Geotechnical 
Engineering Limited

Hong Kong HK$20,000,000 – 74.5 Drilling, site investigation and 
related ground engineering 
construction

DrilTech Ground Engineering 
Limited

Hong Kong HK$20,000,000 – 74.5 Drilling, site investigation and 
related ground engineering 
construction

DrilTech Ground Engineering 
(Macau) Limited

Macau MOP1,000,000 – 74.5 Drilling, site investigation and 
related ground engineering 
construction

DrilTech Ground Engineering 
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd.

Singapore S$25,000 – 74.5 Drilling, site investigation and 
related ground engineering 
construction

1.	 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
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Name

Place of 
incorporation/

registration 
and business

Issued 
ordinary 

share/registered 
share capital

Percentage of 
equity interest 
attributable to 
the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect
      

Everest Engineering Company 
Limited

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 74.5 Basement construction work

Forever Ascent Investment 
Limited

Hong Kong HK$1 – 100 Property holding

Gina Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$2 – 100 Property holding

Jackson Mercantile Trading 
Company Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2,000;
Non-voting deferred

HK$5,000,000

– 100 Property holding

Jacobson van den Berg  
(China) Limited

Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 – 100 Trading of electrical and 
mechanical and other 
products

Jacobson van den Berg  
(Hong Kong) Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000;
Non-voting deferred

HK$35,486,600

– 100 Investment holding and agency 
trading of industrial products

Jacobson van den Berg 
(Properties) Limited

Hong Kong HK$2 – 100 Property holding

Kin Wing Chinney (BVI)  
Limited

British  
Virgin Islands

US$208 – 74.5 Investment holding

Kin Wing Engineering Company 
Limited

Hong Kong HK$20,000,000 – 74.5 Foundation piling

Kin Wing Foundations Limited Hong Kong HK$8,000,000 – 74.5 Foundation piling

Kinwing Engineering (Macau) 
Company Limited

Macau MOP1,000,000 – 74.5 Foundation piling

LabTech Testing Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 74.5 Construction material testing

1.	 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
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Name

Place of 
incorporation/

registration 
and business

Issued 
ordinary 

share/registered 
share capital

Percentage of 
equity interest 
attributable to 
the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect
      

Lei Kee Development Company 
Limited

Hong Kong HK$2 – 100 Property holding

Lindeteves Jacoberg (China) 
Limited

Hong Kong HK$170,000 – 100 Property holding

Right Able Limited Hong Kong HK$1 – 100 Property holding

Shun Cheong Building  
Services Limited

Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 – 100 Multi-discipline building services

Shun Cheong Building Services 
(Macau) Limited

Macau MOP100,000 – 100 Installation and maintenance 
of electrical, mechanical, 
heat ventilation and 
air-conditioning systems

Shun Cheong Electrical 
Engineering Company Limited

Hong Kong “A” ordinary
 HK$6,000,000; 

Non-voting deferred 
HK$4,000,000

– 100 Design, installation, repair and 
maintenance of electrical and 
mechanical systems

Shun Cheong Electrical Products 
Factory Limited

Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 – 100 Trading of electrical installation 
products

Shun Cheong Engineering  
Group Limited

British  
Virgin Islands

US$100 – 100 Investment holding

Shun Cheong Management 
Limited

Hong Kong HK$2 – 100 Provision of management 
services

Shun Cheong Real Estates Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Property holding

Shun Cheong Trade and 
Development Company Limited

Hong Kong HK$663,000 – 100 Trading of electrical generators

Strong Link Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Property holding and 
development

1.	 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
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Name

Place of 
incorporation/

registration 
and business

Issued 
ordinary 

share/registered 
share capital

Percentage of 
equity interest 
attributable to 
the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect
      

Tegan Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$2 – 100 Property holding

Westco Airconditioning Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 – 100 Design, installation and 
maintenance of heating, 
ventilation and  
air-conditioning systems

Westco Chinney Limited Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 – 100 Sale and installation of  
air-conditioning systems

Zeta International Limited British  
Virgin Islands

US$1 – 100 Property holding

東莞東寶龍燈光設備有限公司* 
(Dongguan Dongbaolong  Light 
Equipment Co., Ltd.,  
for identification only)

PRC HK$55,000,000 – 100 Property holding

雅各臣(深圳)貿易有限公司*  
(Jacobson (Shenzhen) Trading 
Company Limited,  
for identification only)

PRC HK$20,000,000 – 100 Trading of industrial products

*	 These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.

#	 A company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors of the 
Company, principally affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net 
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of 
the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

1.	 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
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2.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1	 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the  
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles 
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except 
for leasehold land and buildings included in property, plant and equipment, investment 
properties, equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income, financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss and derivative financial instruments which have 
been measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars 
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023. 
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the 
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. When the 
Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an 
investee, including:

(a)	 the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b)	 rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)	 the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the 
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated 
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the 
date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the 
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the  
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, 
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are 
eliminated in full on consolidation.



Chinney Alliance Group Limited    Annual Report 202366

31 December 2023

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1	 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances 
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control described 
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is 
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including 
goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; 
and recognises the fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus or 
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on 
the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets 
or liabilities.

2.2	 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the first time for the 
current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contract
Amendments to HKAS 1 and  

HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising 

from a Single Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs that are applicable to the Group 
are described below:

(a)	 Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose their material accounting policy 
information rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy 
information is material if, when considered together with other information included 
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions 
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis 
of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making 
Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept 
of materiality to accounting policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed the material 
accounting policy information in note 2 to the financial statements. The amendments 
did not have any impact on the measurement, recognition or presentation of any items 
in the Group’s financial statements.
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2.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2	 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)	 Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in accounting 
estimates and changes in accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined 
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement 
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use measurement techniques 
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. Since the Group’s approach and policy 
align with the amendments, the amendments had no impact on the Group’s financial 
statements.

(c)	 Upon the application of the amendments, the Group has determined the temporary 
differences arising from right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately, which have 
been reflected in the reconciliation disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements. 
However, they did not have any material impact on the overall deferred tax balances 
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as the related deferred 
tax balances qualified for offsetting under HKAS 12.

(d)	 Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules introduce 
a mandatory temporary exception from the recognition and disclosure of deferred 
taxes arising from the implementation of the Pillar Two model rules published by the 
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. The amendments also 
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected entities to help users of the financial 
statements better understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income taxes, 
including the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar Two income taxes separately 
in the periods when Pillar Two legislation is effective and the disclosure of known 
or reasonably estimable information of their exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in 
periods in which the legislation is enacted or substantively enacted but not yet in 
effect. The Group has applied the amendments retrospectively. Since the Group did not 
fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules, the amendments did not have any 
impact to the Group.
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2.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3	 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not 
yet effective, in these financial statements. The Group intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, 
if applicable, when they become effective,

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture3

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or  
Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”)1, 4

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants  
(the “2022 Amendments”)1, 4

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangement1

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability2

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
3	 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4	 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 

Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains 
a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding wording with no change in 
conclusion

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is 
described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency between the requirements 
in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between 
an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition 
of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution 
of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a 
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or 
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. 
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date 
of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the 
amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring 
the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does 
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. The 
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and 
shall be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into after the 
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier application is permitted. 
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial 
statements.
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2.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3	 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or 
non-current, including what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer 
must exist at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by 
the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. The amendments 
also clarify that a liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a 
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an equity instrument 
would the terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments further 
clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with 
which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification of 
that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-current 
liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with future covenants within 12 months 
after the reporting period. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with early 
application is permitted. An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to 
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently assessing 
the impact of the amendments and whether existing loan agreements may require revision. 
Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to have any significant 
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of supplier finance 
arrangements and require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure 
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements in 
understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash 
flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application of the amendments is permitted. 
The amendments provide certain transition reliefs regarding comparative information, 
quantitative information as at the beginning of the annual reporting period and interim 
disclosures. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s 
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether a currency is 
exchangeable into another currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a 
measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of 
information that enable users of financial statements to understand the impact of a currency 
not being exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying the amendments, an 
entity cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the 
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits 
or to the cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in a separate component 
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The amendments are not 
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Investments in an associate and a joint venture

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 
20% of the equity voting rights and over which it has significant influence. Significant influence is 
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not 
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the 
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually 
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant 
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in an associate and a joint venture are stated in the consolidated 
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of 
accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of an associate 
and a joint venture is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated 
other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change recognised 
directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any 
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains 
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associate or joint venture are 
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the associate or joint venture, except where 
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from 
the acquisition of an associate or a joint venture is included as part of the Group’s investments in 
an associate or a joint venture.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained 
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity 
method. In all other case, upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over 
the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any 
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant 
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal 
is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.1	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Interests in a joint operation

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the 
arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the 
arrangement.

The Group recognises in relation to its interest in a joint operation:

•	 its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

•	 its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;

•	 its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation;

•	 its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and

•	 its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

The assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to the Group’s interest in a joint operation are 
accounted for in accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues 
and expenses.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration 
transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date 
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former 
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the 
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired set of activities and assets 
includes an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to 
create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured 
at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.1	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value 
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as 
equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s 
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net 
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on 
bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of 
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business 
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating 
units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those 
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group 
of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the  
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an 
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a 
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) 
and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation 
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss 
on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the relative 
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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Fair value measurement

The Group measures its leasehold land and owned buildings classified as property, plant and 
equipment, investment properties at fair value, an equity investment at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, derivative financial instruments and financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received 
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the 
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for 
the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market 
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by 
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in 
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability 
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to 
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs 
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1	 –	 based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2	 –	 based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3	 –	 based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the 
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing 
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset 
is required (other than inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets, goodwill, investment 
properties and a property held for sale under development), the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s 
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless 
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets 
or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the 
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual 
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the 
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit 
or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which 
case the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that 
revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication 
that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such 
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment 
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the 
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss 
is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is 
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in 
accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)	 the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

(i)	 has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)	 has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)	 is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the 
Group;

or

(b)	 the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i)	 the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii)	 one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary 
or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii)	 the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv)	 one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the 
third entity;

(v)	 the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the 
Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi)	 the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii)	 a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of 
the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii)	 the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management 
personnel services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost or valuation 
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant 
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset 
to its working condition and location for its intended use.
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Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, 
such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in 
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, 
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a 
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced 
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and 
depreciates them accordingly.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset 
does not differ materially from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property, plant and 
equipment are dealt with as movements in the asset revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve 
is insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of the deficit is charged 
to the statement of profit or loss. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to the statement 
of profit or loss to the extent of the deficit previously charged. An annual transfer from the asset 
revaluation reserve to retained profits is made for the difference between the depreciation based on 
the revalued carrying amount of an asset and the depreciation based on the asset’s original cost. 
On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve realised in 
respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained profits as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost or valuation of each item 
of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal 
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings Over the lease terms or 2%
Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms or 10% – 331/3%
Plant and machinery 6% – 25%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10% – 331/3%
Yacht 10%
Motor vehicles 15% – 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost 
or valuation of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is 
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and 
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
 
An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is 
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in 
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is 
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed and 
ready for use.
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Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including right-of-use assets) held to 
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at cost, 
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at 
fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the 
statement of profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied properties, the deemed cost of a 
property for subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. If a property 
occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the 
Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and 
equipment and depreciation” for owned property and/or accounts for such property in accordance 
with the policy stated under “Right-of-use assets” for property held as a right-of-use asset up to 
the date of change in use, and any difference at that date between the carrying amount and the 
fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with the policy stated 
under “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” above.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, 
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for  
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease 
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)	 Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease (that is the 
date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost or 
valuation, less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for 
any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount 
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or 
before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated 
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leased land and buildings	 Over the lease terms
Leasehold land	 Over the lease terms

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of the lease term or the 
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated 
useful life of the asset.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset 
does not differ materially from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of leasehold land 
including in right-of-use assets are dealt with as movements in the asset revaluation reserve. 
If the total of this reserve is insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the 
excess of the deficit is charged to the statement of profit or loss. Any subsequent revaluation 
surplus is credited to the statement of profit or loss to the extent of the deficit previously 
charged. An annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to retained profits is made for 
the difference between the depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of an asset 
and the depreciation based on the asset’s original cost. On disposal of a revalued asset, the 
relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is 
transferred to retained profits as a movement in reserves.

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for 
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to 
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying 
assets.
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Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)	 Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at the present value of 
lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments 
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease 
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual 
value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option 
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for termination 
of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. 
The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an 
expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing 
rate at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is 
not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is 
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In 
addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, 
a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease 
payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option 
to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are separately presented in the consolidated statement of 
financial position.

(c)	 Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of 
machinery and equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less 
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). When the Group 
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise 
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when there is a lease 
modification) each of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and  
non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on 
a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over 
the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating 
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental 
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.
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Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair 
value through other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s 
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the 
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which 
the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing 
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a 
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do 
not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical 
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with 
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through 
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows 
that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the 
business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial 
assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will 
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets 
classified and measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective to 
hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are held within a business model with 
the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which 
are not held within the aforementioned business models are classified and measured at fair value 
through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally 
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that 
is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method 
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss 
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.



Annual Report 2023    Chinney Alliance Group Limited 81

31 December 2023

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.1	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity 
investments at fair value through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition 
of equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The 
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the statement of profit or loss. 
Dividends are recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of 
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the 
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably, except 
when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, 
in which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity investment at fair 
value through other comprehensive income is not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position 
at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments which the Group had not 
irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other comprehensive income and unlisted club 
debentures that are not solely payments of principal and interest.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of 
financial position) when:

•	 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

•	 the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed 
an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party 
under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a 
passthrough arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards 
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the 
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also 
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on 
a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is 
measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not 
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual 
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to 
receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash 
flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are 
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from 
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit 
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, 
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has 
increased significantly since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares 
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of 
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers 
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort, including 
historical and forward-looking information.

The Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information 
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before 
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off 
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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3.1	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the general approach and they 
are classified within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables 
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1	 –	 Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 
12-month ECLs

Stage 2	 –	 Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial 
recognition but that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss 
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3	 –	 Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not 
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured 
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant financing component or 
when the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing 
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified 
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance 
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that 
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the 
debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments 
in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings 
and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills payables, trust receipt loans, retention monies 
payable, financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, lease liabilities and interest-bearing 
bank borrowings.
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3.1	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-bearing borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect 
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through 
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and 
fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate 
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange 
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new 
liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement 
of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement 
of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts 
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,  
first-out or the weighted average basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises 
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on 
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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3.1	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Properties held for sale under development

Properties held for sale under development intended to be held for sale after completion. Properties 
held for sale under development are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value and 
comprise land costs, construction costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs directly 
attributable to such properties incurred during the development period. Net realisable value is 
based on estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business as determined by management 
with reference to the prevailing market conditions, less further costs expected to be incurred 
to completion and cost to make the sale. On completion of construction, the properties are 
transferred to completed properties held for sale. Properties held for sale under development are 
classified as current assets.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash on hand and at 
bank, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that 
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise 
cash on hand and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which 
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result 
of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When 
the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as 
a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a 
provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present 
value at the end of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle 
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of 
time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the sale of certain industrial products and the 
provision of construction services for general repairs of defects occurring during the warranty 
period. Provisions for these assurance-type warranties granted by the Group are initially recognised 
based on sales volume and past experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted to their 
present values as appropriate. The warranty-related cost is revised annually.
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Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside 
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or 
paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations 
and practices prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of 
the reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

•	 when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal 
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

•	 in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, an 
associate and a joint venture, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences 
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward 
of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, 
except:

•	 when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the 
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or 
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

•	 in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
an associate and a joint venture, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it 
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable 
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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3.1	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are 
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset 
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Group has a legally 
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets 
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the 
same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities 
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each 
future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be 
settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the 
grant will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to 
an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for 
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or services is 
transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the amount of consideration is 
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services 
to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained 
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue 
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is 
subsequently resolved.
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3.1	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the customer with a significant 
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one year, 
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount 
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group and the 
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing component which provides 
the Group with a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the 
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest 
method. For a contract where the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer 
of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the 
effects of a significant financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a)	 Sale of products

Revenue from the sale of products is recognised at the point in time when control of the 
asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the consumer products.

(b)	 Construction services

Revenue from the provision of construction services is recognised over time, using an input 
method to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the service, because the 
Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is 
created or enhanced. The input method recognises revenue based on the proportion of the 
actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the construction 
services.

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks to collect from the customers 
as reimbursement of costs and margins for scope of works not included in the original 
construction contract. Claims are accounted for as variable consideration and constrained 
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative 
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable 
consideration is subsequently resolved. The Group uses the expected value method to 
estimate the amounts of claims because this method best predicts the amount of variable 
consideration to which the Group will be entitled.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease terms. Variable lease 
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting 
period in which they are incurred.
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3.1	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying 
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the 
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been 
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the 
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before being unconditionally 
entitled to the consideration under the contract terms, a contract asset is recognised for the 
earned consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment, 
details of which are included in the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets. They are 
reclassified to trade receivables when the right to the consideration becomes unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is 
earlier) from a customer before the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities 
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of 
the related goods or services to the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all 
of the following criteria are met:

(a)	 The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract that the entity can 
specifically identify.

(b)	 The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in 
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in the future.

(c)	 The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the statement of profit or loss on a 
systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to 
which the asset relates. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.
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Employee benefits

The Group operates two types of defined contribution retirement benefit schemes, including a 
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory 
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance and an Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance retirement 
benefit scheme (the “ORSO Scheme”), for all of its employees who are eligible to participate in the 
MPF Scheme or ORSO Scheme.

Under the MPF Scheme, contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic 
salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance 
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the 
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s employer voluntary 
contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the employee leaves employment prior to the 
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The ORSO Scheme is managed by an independent trustee. The Group makes monthly contributions 
to the scheme at 5% to 15% of the employees’ basic salaries while the employees are not required 
to make any contributions. The employees are entitled to receive 100% of the contributions 
made by the Group together with the accrued earnings thereon upon retirement or leaving the 
Group after completing 10 years of service or at a reduced scale of 30% to 90% after completing 
three to nine years of service. Forfeited contributions and related earnings are used to reduce the 
contributions payable by the Group.

Prior to the MPF Scheme becoming effective, certain member companies of the Group operated 
defined contribution provident fund schemes (the “Provident Funds”) under the Occupational 
Retirement Schemes Ordinance for those employees who were eligible to participate. The Provident 
Funds operated in a similar way to the MPF Scheme, except that when an employee left the 
Provident Funds prior to his/her interest in the Group’s employer contributions vesting fully, the 
ongoing contributions payable by the Group were reduced by the relevant amount of forfeited 
contributions. Upon implementation of the MPF Scheme, the Provident Funds have been frozen 
and no further contributions have been made by the Group or the eligible employees after that 
date. The eligible employees are entitled to receive their funds in accordance with the rules of the 
Provident Funds when they leave the Group.

The assets of both types of scheme are held separately from those of the Group in independently 
administered funds.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Chinese Mainland are required 
to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. These 
subsidiaries are required to contribute 5% of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The 
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance 
with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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Employee benefits (continued)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the 
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of 
termination benefits.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in a general 
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional 
and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and 
items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional 
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded 
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency 
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or 
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date 
when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item 
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair 
value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised 
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income 
or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income 
on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance 
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises 
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there 
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each 
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and a joint venture are currencies other 
than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these 
entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the 
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the 
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.



Chinney Alliance Group Limited    Annual Report 202392

31 December 2023

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.1	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other 
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement 
of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of 
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries 
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. 
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are 
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

3.2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets 
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. 
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue recognition for construction services

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognised revenue from construction 
contracting businesses amounting to HK$5,460,345,000. The Group has recognised revenue 
from the provision of construction services over time, using an input method to measure progress 
towards complete satisfaction of the service, because the Group’s performance creates or enhances 
an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced. The input method 
recognises revenue based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated 
total costs for satisfaction of the construction services. This involves the use of management 
judgements and estimation uncertainty, including estimating the progress towards completion of 
the services, scope of deliveries and services required, total contract costs incurred, forecasting the 
costs to complete a contract, valuing contract variations, claims and potential liquidated damages 
and estimating the provision for onerous contracts. When forecasting the costs to complete a 
contract, key assumptions are made based on past experience and quotation from subcontractors 
and suppliers, which may be changed if the future economic environment has changed.
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3.2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an 
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. 
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash 
flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate 
the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2023 
was HK$14,369,000 (2022: HK$14,369,000). Further details are given in note 20 to the financial 
statements.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties and revaluation of leasehold land and owned 
buildings

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar properties, the Group considers 
information from a variety of sources, including:

(a)	 current prices in an active market for properties of a different nature, condition or location, 
adjusted to reflect those differences; and

(b)	 recent prices of similar properties on less active markets, with adjustments to reflect any 
changes in economic conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred at those 
prices.

The carrying amounts of investment properties, leasehold land and owned buildings at 
31 December 2023 were HK$104,726,000 (2022: HK$117,439,000), HK$645,707,000 (2022: 
HK$658,980,000) and HK$37,153,000 (2022: HK$38,310,000), respectively.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and contract assets

Other than specific impairment allowance, the Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for 
trade receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings 
of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group 
will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking 
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic products and 
consumer price index) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased 
number of defaults, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical 
observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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3.2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default rates, forecast economic 
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in 
circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and 
forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in 
the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables and contract assets is 
disclosed in note 24 and note 27 to the financial statements, respectively.

Estimation of net realisable value of properties held for sale under development

Properties held for sale under development are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
The estimated net realisable value is the estimated selling price less cost to make the sale and the 
estimated cost of completion (if any), which are estimated based on the best available information. 
The carrying amount of a property held for sale under development at 31 December 2023 was 
HK$102,382,000 (2022: HK$73,485,000). Further details are given in note 23 to the financial 
statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets 
(including the right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Non-financial assets are 
tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. 
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in 
use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding 
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices 
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, 
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating 
unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash 
flows. The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and investment in an associate at 
31 December 2023 were HK$1,111,906,000 (2022: HK$1,106,137,000) and HK$121,000 (2022: 
HK$121,000), respectively. Further details are given in notes 14 and 17 to the financial statements, 
respectively.
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4.	 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and 
services and has six reportable operating segments as follows:

•	 the plastic and chemical products segment consists of importing, marketing and distributing 
plastic and chemical products;

•	 the building related contracting services segment consists of the provision of contracting 
services for both public and private sectors, including engineering contracting services in the 
air-conditioning industry and the provision of maintenance services;

•	 the foundation piling and ground investigation segment consists of the foundation piling and 
substructure construction works for both public and private sectors;

•	 the building construction segment consists of superstructure construction works for both 
public and private sectors;

•	 the aviation segment consists of the distribution and installation of aviation system and other 
hi-tech products; and

•	 the “others” segment consists of property holding and development, and investment 
holding.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments separately for the purpose of 
making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is 
evaluated based on reportable segment profit, which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The 
adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax except that 
interest income, changes in fair value of investment properties, deficit from revaluation of property, 
plant and equipment as well as unallocated corporate gains and expenses are excluded from this 
measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, tax recoverable, an equity investment at fair value 
through other comprehensive income, certain financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
and other unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group 
basis.

Segment liabilities exclude tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated head office and 
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the selling prices used for sales 
made to third parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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4.	 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023

Plastic and 
chemical 
products

Building 
related 

contracting 
services

Building 
construction

Foundation 
piling and 

ground 
investigation Aviation Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
        

Segment revenue (note 5)
Sales to external customers 405,870 2,262,239 888,223 2,119,472 305,836 – 5,981,640
Intersegment sales 58 827 1,264 2,925 – – 5,074
Other revenue 2,059 126 2,306 16,208 677 – 21,376       

Total segment revenue 407,987 2,263,192 891,793 2,138,605 306,513 – 6,008,090

Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment sales (5,074)

 

Revenue 6,003,016
 

Segment results (221) (15,027) 10,956 142,514 6,174 (19,338) 125,058

Reconciliation:
Fair value change in financial assets at  

fair value through profit or loss 1,136
Interest income and unallocated gains 4,566
Unallocated expenses (42,300)
Changes in fair value of  

investment properties, net (11,122)
Deficit from revaluation of property,  

plant and equipment (1,258)
 

Profit before tax 76,080
 

Segment assets 351,058 2,061,467 723,388 1,753,705 322,423 308,184 5,520,225

Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment receivables (15,409)
Equity investment at fair value  

through other comprehensive income 7,726
Financial assets at fair value  

through profit or loss 22,119
Corporate and other unallocated assets 38,633

 

Total assets 5,573,294
 

Segment liabilities 49,189 1,518,658 333,141 982,317 240,272 46,224 3,169,801

Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment payables (15,409)
Corporate and other unallocated 

liabilities 126,051
 

Total liabilities 3,280,443
 

Other segment information:
Investment in an associate – – – 121 – – 121
Impairment of trade receivables 99 12 – – – – 111
Impairment of contract assets – – – 10,265 – – 10,265
Impairment of amount due from  

a joint venture – – – – – 967 967
Provision for inventories included in  

cost of inventories sold 475 30 – – – – 505
Write-down of a property held for  

sale under development to net 
realisable value included in cost of 
inventories sold – – – – – 16,000 16,000

Depreciation 8,520 16,322 8,566 75,346 3,786 9,866 122,406

Capital expenditure* 1,432 4,997 309 104,979 1,146 232 113,095
       

*	 Capital expenditure represents additions to property, plant and equipment and investment properties, 
excluding right-of-use assets arising from leased buildings.
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4.	 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022

Plastic and 
chemical

 products

Building 
related 

contracting 
services

Building 
construction

Foundation 
piling and 

ground 
investigation Aviation Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
        

Segment revenue (note 5)
Sales to external customers 450,592 2,348,631 948,025 1,801,475 349,636 – 5,898,359
Intersegment sales 129 3,340 1,954 4,368 – – 9,791
Other revenue 462 17 213 2,633 1 – 3,326       

Total segment revenue 451,183 2,351,988 950,192 1,808,476 349,637 – 5,911,476

Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment sales (9,791)

 

Revenue 5,901,685
 

Segment results 7,567 11,479 (21,442) 116,170 7,359 (39,679) 81,454

Reconciliation:
Fair value change in financial assets at  

fair value through profit or loss 3,350
Interest income and unallocated gains 2,951
Unallocated expenses (43,524)
Changes in fair value of investment 

properties, net (2,051)
Deficit from revaluation of property,  

plant and equipment (5,418)
 

Profit before tax 36,762
 

Segment assets 342,539 1,643,949 651,455 1,529,160 317,027 285,737 4,769,867

Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment receivables (10,932)
Equity investment at fair value through 

other comprehensive income 7,217
Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss 20,178
Corporate and other unallocated assets 49,566

 

Total assets 4,835,896
 

Segment liabilities 42,826 1,083,402 268,966 823,923 192,991 45,914 2,458,022

Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment payables (10,932)
Corporate and other unallocated 

liabilities 136,229
 

Total liabilities 2,583,319
 

Other segment information:
Investment in an associate – – – 121 – – 121
Impairment of trade receivables – – – 9,458 – – 9,458
Provision for inventories included in cost 

of inventories sold 5,004 100 – – – – 5,104
Write-down of a property held for  

sale under development to net 
realisable value included in cost of 
inventories sold – – – – – 36,000 36,000

Depreciation 8,346 20,220 8,527 71,418 4,167 9,745 122,423

Capital expenditure* 1,768 7,090 171 59,560 2,858 26 71,473
       

*	 Capital expenditure represents additions to property, plant and equipment and investment properties, 
excluding right-of-use assets arising from leased buildings.
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4.	 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information

(a)	 Revenue from external customers

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Hong Kong 5,672,521 5,070,852
Chinese Mainland and Macau 309,119 827,507

  

Total revenue 5,981,640 5,898,359
  

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the customers.

(b)	 Non-current assets

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Hong Kong 1,000,409 983,943
Chinese Mainland and Macau 230,713 254,123

  

Total non-current assets 1,231,122 1,238,066
  

The non-current asset information above is based on the locations of the assets and excludes 
an equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income, financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss, the non-current portion of deposits and deferred tax assets.

Information about a major customer

Revenue of approximately HK$1,033,314,000 (2022: Nil) was derived from a major customer which 
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue.
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5.	 REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

An analysis of revenue and other income is as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Revenue from contracts with customers
Sale of goods 521,295 572,482
Construction services 5,460,345 5,325,877

  

5,981,640 5,898,359
  

Revenue from contracts with customers

(i)	 Disaggregated revenue information

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Segments

Plastic and 
chemical 
products

Building 
related 

contracting 
services

Building 
construction

Foundation 
piling and 

ground 
investigation Aviation Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

Types of goods or services
Sale of goods 405,870 115,425 – – – 521,295
Construction services – 2,146,814 888,223 2,119,472 305,836 5,460,345

      

Total revenue from contracts with customers 405,870 2,262,239 888,223 2,119,472 305,836 5,981,640
      

Geographical markets
Hong Kong 360,439 2,151,087 735,945 2,119,472 305,578 5,672,521
Chinese Mainland and Macau 45,431 111,152 152,278 – 258 309,119

      

Total revenue from contracts with customers 405,870 2,262,239 888,223 2,119,472 305,836 5,981,640
      

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time 405,870 115,425 – – – 521,295
Services transferred over time – 2,146,814 888,223 2,119,472 305,836 5,460,345

      

Total revenue from contracts with customers 405,870 2,262,239 888,223 2,119,472 305,836 5,981,640
      



Chinney Alliance Group Limited    Annual Report 2023100

31 December 2023

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5.	 REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i)	 Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Segments

Plastic and 
chemical 
products

Building 
related 

contracting 
services

Building 
construction

Foundation 
piling and 

ground 
investigation Aviation Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

Types of goods or services
Sale of goods 450,592 121,890 – – – 572,482
Construction services – 2,226,741 948,025 1,801,475 349,636 5,325,877

      

Total revenue from contracts with customers 450,592 2,348,631 948,025 1,801,475 349,636 5,898,359
      

Geographical markets
Hong Kong 393,753 1,795,243 732,929 1,801,475 347,452 5,070,852
Chinese Mainland and Macau 56,839 553,388 215,096 – 2,184 827,507

      

Total revenue from contracts with customers 450,592 2,348,631 948,025 1,801,475 349,636 5,898,359
      

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time 450,592 121,890 – – – 572,482
Services transferred over time – 2,226,741 948,025 1,801,475 349,636 5,325,877

      

Total revenue from contracts with customers 450,592 2,348,631 948,025 1,801,475 349,636 5,898,359
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5.	 REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i)	 Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from contracts with customers with the 
amounts disclosed in the segment information:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Segments

Plastic and 
chemical 
products

Building 
related 

contracting 
services

Building 
construction

Foundation 
piling and 

ground 
investigation Aviation Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
        

Sales to external customers 405,870 2,262,239 888,223 2,119,472 305,836 – 5,981,640
Intersegment sales 58 827 1,264 2,925 – – 5,074
Other revenue 2,059 126 2,306 16,208 677 – 21,376

       

Subtotal 407,987 2,263,192 891,793 2,138,605 306,513 – 6,008,090
Intersegment adjustments 

and eliminations (58) (827) (1,264) (2,925) – – (5,074)
Other revenue classified as 

other income (2,059) (126) (2,306) (16,208) (677) – (21,376)
       

Revenue from contracts 
with customers 405,870 2,262,239 888,223 2,119,472 305,836 – 5,981,640

       

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Segments

Plastic and 
chemical 
products

Building
 related 

contracting 
services

Building 
construction

Foundation 
piling and 

ground 
investigation Aviation Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
        

Sales to external customers 450,592 2,348,631 948,025 1,801,475 349,636 – 5,898,359
Intersegment sales 129 3,340 1,954 4,368 – – 9,791
Other revenue 462 17 213 2,633 1 – 3,326

       

Subtotal 451,183 2,351,988 950,192 1,808,476 349,637 – 5,911,476
Intersegment adjustments 

and eliminations (129) (3,340) (1,954) (4,368) – – (9,791)
Other revenue classified as 

other income (462) (17) (213) (2,633) (1) – (3,326)
       

Revenue from contracts 
with customers 450,592 2,348,631 948,025 1,801,475 349,636 – 5,898,359
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5.	 REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i)	 Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in the current reporting period 
that were included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period and 
recognised from performance obligations satisfied in previous periods:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Revenue recognised that was included in contract 
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:
Construction services 607,150 558,137

  

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Revenue recognised from performance obligations 
satisfied in previous periods:
Construction services not previously recognised  

due to constraints on variable consideration 13,491 9,087
  

(ii)	 Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is summarised below:

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the products and payment is 
generally due within 60 days from delivery, except for new customers, where payment in 
advance is normally required.

Construction services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are rendered and payment 
is generally due on delivery to 60 days from the date of billing. A certain percentage of 
payment is retained by customers until the end of the retention period as the Group’s 
entitlement to the final payment is conditional on the satisfaction of the service quality by the 
customers over a certain period as stipulated in the contracts.
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5.	 REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(ii)	 Performance obligations (continued)

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations 
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Amounts expected to be recognised as revenue:
Within one year 7,486,433 5,304,650
After one year 2,970,451 2,831,242

  

Total 10,456,884 8,135,892
  

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations which 
are expected to be recognised as revenue after one year relate to construction services, of 
which the performance obligations are to be satisfied within five years. All the other amounts 
of transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations are expected to be 
recognised as revenue within one year. The amounts disclosed above do not include variable 
consideration which is constrained.

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Other income
Interest income 21,128 3,024
Commission income 248 75
Investment income from financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss 863 –
Others 3,703 3,178

  

Total other income 25,942 6,277
  



Chinney Alliance Group Limited    Annual Report 2023104

31 December 2023

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6.	 OTHER OPERATING INCOME/(EXPENSE), NET

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Fair value changes in financial assets  
at fair value through profit or loss 1,136 3,725

Fair value loss on derivative financial instruments  
– transactions not qualifying as hedges (99) –

Foreign exchange differences, net (1,511) (3,640)
Government subsidies (note) 2,006 38,152
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment, net (92) (3)
Impairment of trade receivables (111) (9,458)
Impairment of contract assets (10,265) –
Impairment of amount due from a joint venture (967) –

  

Total other operating income/(expense), net (9,903) 28,776
  

Note:	 The government subsidies represent mainly grants from the Employment Support Scheme of the Hong 
Kong Government, which aims to retain employment and combat COVID-19. There are no unfulfilled 
conditions or contingencies relating to these subsidies.

7.	 FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Interest on bank loans and overdrafts 33,708 14,444
Interest on lease liabilities (note 16) 3,964 3,856
Interest on other payable 2,538 –
Implicit interest on other payables 800 1,894
Less: Interest capitalised under a property held for sale  

    under development (2,755) (1,493)
  

Total 38,255 18,701
  



Annual Report 2023    Chinney Alliance Group Limited 105

31 December 2023

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8.	 PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Cost of inventories sold 459,672 521,070
Cost of services provided 4,861,709 4,807,770

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
(excluding right-of-use assets) 14 85,025 85,868

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 14 37,381 36,555
Lease payments not included in the measurement of 

lease liabilities 16 10,149 9,138

Auditor’s remuneration:
Charge for the year 4,116 4,057
Underprovision in prior years 84 188

  

4,200 4,245
  

Employee benefit expense (including directors’ 
remuneration (note 9)):
Wages and salaries 956,732 847,250
Pension scheme contributions* 34,152 31,953

  

990,884 879,203
  

Direct operating expenses (including repairs and 
maintenance) arising on rental-earning investment 
properties 162 167

Provision for inventories included in cost of 
inventories sold 505 5,104

Impairment of trade receivables# 111 9,458
Impairment of contract assets# 10,265 –
Impairment of amount due from a joint venture# 967 –
Write-down of a property held for sale under 

development to net realisable value included in  
cost of inventories sold 16,000 36,000

Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and 
equipment, net# 92 3

Government subsidies# (2,006) (38,152)
Net loss from fair value adjustments of investment 

properties 15 11,122 2,051
Fair value changes in financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss# (1,136) (3,725)
Fair value loss on derivative financial instruments  

– transactions not qualifying as hedges# 99 –
Foreign exchange differences, net# 1,511 3,640

  

*	 As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have significant forfeited contributions available to reduce 
its contributions to the pension schemes in future years (2022: Nil).

#	 These expense/(income) items are included in “Other operating income/(expense), net” in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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9.	 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, sections 383(1)(a), 
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of 
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Fees 1,880 1,880
  

Other emoluments:
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 11,679 7,175
Performance-related bonuses* 28,800 18,450
Pension scheme contributions 168 372

  

Subtotal 40,647 25,997
  

Total 42,527 27,877
  

*	 Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus payments which are determined with 
reference to profit for the year of the Group.

(a)	 Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Chi-Chiu Wu 320 320
Ronald James Blake 320 320
Anthony King-Yan Tong 320 320
Dee-Dee Chan 320 320

  

Total 1,280 1,280
  

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors during 
the year (2022: Nil).
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9.	 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(b)	 Executive directors and non-executive directors

Fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Performance-
related 

bonuses

Pension 
scheme 

contributions
Total 

remuneration
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

2023
Executive directors:

James Sai-Wing Wong – – 3,000 – 3,000
James Sing-Wai Wong (i) 200 2,981 3,800 168 7,149
Yuen-Keung Chan (ii) 200 6,276 18,500 – 24,976
Philip Bing-Lun Lam (iii) 200 2,422 3,500 – 6,122

     

Total 600 11,679 28,800 168 41,247
     

Fees

Salaries,
 allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Performance-
related 

bonuses

Pension 
scheme 

contributions
Total

remuneration
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

2022
Executive directors:

James Sai-Wing Wong – – 3,000 – 3,000
James Sing-Wai Wong (i) 200 4,355 2,950 372 7,877
Yuen-Keung Chan (ii) 200 480 10,000 – 10,680
Philip Bing-Lun Lam (iii) 200 2,340 2,500 – 5,040

     

Total 600 7,175 18,450 372 26,597
     

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any 
remuneration during the year.

Notes:

(i)	 Included the director’s fees of HK$200,000 (2022: HK$200,000) and performance-related 
bonuses of HK$2,000,000 (2022: HK$1,000,000) as an executive director of Chinney Kin Wing.

(ii)	 Included the director’s fees of HK$200,000 (2022: HK$200,000), salaries, allowances 
and benefits in kind of HK$4,057,000 (2022: Nil) and performance-related bonuses of 
HK$15,500,000 (2022: HK$7,000,000) as an executive director of Chinney Kin Wing.

(iii)	 Included the director’s fees of HK$200,000 (2022: HK$200,000) and performance-related 
bonuses of HK$2,000,000 (2022: HK$1,000,000) as an executive director of Chinney Kin Wing.
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10.	 FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group included three (2022: two) directors of the Company, 
details of whose remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration for the year 
of the remaining two (2022: three) non-director highest paid employees for the year are as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Basic salaries and other benefits in kind 9,227 11,309
Bonuses paid and payable 17,700 12,230
Pension scheme contributions 663 798
Gratuity and long service payment – 5,390

  

Total 27,590 29,727
  

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following 
bands is as follows:

Number of employees
2023 2022

   

HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 1 –
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 – 1
HK$11,000,001 to HK$11,500,000 – 1
HK$13,000,001 to HK$13,500,000 – 1
HK$22,500,001 to HK$23,000,000 1 –

  

Total 2 3
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11.	 INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the estimated 
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have 
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Current – Hong Kong
Charge for the year 34,840 31,691
Overprovision in prior years (578) (241)

Current – Elsewhere
Charge for the year 7 416
Overprovision in prior years (212) (294)

Deferred (note 33) (14,424) (9,096)
  

Total tax charge for the year 19,633 22,476
  

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory tax rates to the 
tax charge for the year at the effective rate is as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Profit before tax 76,080 36,762
  

Tax at the applicable statutory tax rates 9,870 4,242
Adjustments in respect of current tax of previous periods (790) (535)
Income not subject to tax (4,588) (8,186)
Expenses not deductible for tax 8,703 9,683
Tax losses utilised from previous periods (6,462) (3,423)
Tax losses not recognised 11,576 13,846
Others 1,324 6,849

  

Tax charge for the year at the effective rate of 25.8% 
 (2022: 61.1%) 19,633 22,476
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12.	 DIVIDEND

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Proposed final dividend – HK2.50 cents (2022: HK2.50 cents) 
per ordinary share 14,872 14,872

  

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders 
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

13.	 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF 
THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share amount is based on the profit/(loss) for the 
year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company, and the number of ordinary shares in 
issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the years ended 31 December 
2023 and 2022.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Basic
Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 

Company 25,734 (10,197)
  

Number of shares
2023 2022

   

Shares

Number of ordinary shares in issue during the year 594,899,245 594,899,245
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14.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Right-of-use assets Owned assets

  

Leasehold 
land

Leased
 land and 
buildings Sub-total Buildings

Leasehold 
improvements

Plant and 
machinery

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

equipment Yacht
Motor 

vehicles Sub-total Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

            

31 December 2023

At 1 January 2023:
Cost or valuation 658,980 93,140 752,120 38,310 71,077 795,212 71,722 16,529 18,577 1,011,427 1,763,547
Accumulated depreciation – (27,356) (27,356) – (40,875) (533,601) (38,918) (3,481) (13,179) (630,054) (657,410)

           

Net carrying amount 658,980 65,784 724,764 38,310 30,202 261,611 32,804 13,048 5,398 381,373 1,106,137
           

At 1 January 2023: 658,980 65,784 724,764 38,310 30,202 261,611 32,804 13,048 5,398 381,373 1,106,137
Additions – 10,706 10,706 – 4,131 103,165 2,773 – 3,026 113,095 123,801
Disposals – – – – – (344) (129) – (122) (595) (595)
Transfer to costs of construction 

contracts – – – – – (7,225) – – – (7,225) (7,225)
Surplus on revaluation credited to 

other comprehensive income 14,486 – 14,486 441 – – – – – 441 14,927
Deficit on revaluation charged to 

profit or loss (1,236) – (1,236) (22) – – – – – (22) (1,258)
Depreciation provided during the year (26,523) (10,858) (37,381) (1,576) (8,425) (64,495) (5,758) (2,315) (2,456) (85,025) (122,406)
Exchange realignment – (693) (693) – (296) (122) (360) – (4) (782) (1,475)

           

At 31 December 2023, net of 
accumulated depreciation 645,707 64,939 710,646 37,153 25,612 292,590 29,330 10,733 5,842 401,260 1,111,906

           

At 31 December 2023:
Cost or valuation 645,707 96,372 742,079 37,153 74,848 876,735 73,434 16,529 20,316 1,099,015 1,841,094
Accumulated depreciation – (31,433) (31,433) – (49,236) (584,145) (44,104) (5,796) (14,474) (697,755) (729,188)

           

Net carrying amount 645,707 64,939 710,646 37,153 25,612 292,590 29,330 10,733 5,842 401,260 1,111,906
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14.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Right-of-use assets Owned assets
  

Leasehold 
land

Leased 
land and 
buildings Sub-total Buildings

Construction
 in progress

Leasehold 
improvements

Plant and 
machinery

Furniture, 
fixtures and 
equipment Yacht

Motor 
vehicles Sub-total Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
             

31 December 2022

At 1 January 2022:
Cost or valuation 694,957 114,839 809,796 132,142 956 68,901 741,178 71,823 16,529 17,336 1,048,865 1,858,661
Accumulated depreciation – (39,676) (39,676) – – (32,317) (478,280) (33,582) (1,081) (12,331) (557,591) (597,267)

            

Net carrying amount 694,957 75,163 770,120 132,142 956 36,584 262,898 38,241 15,448 5,005 491,274 1,261,394
            

At 1 January 2022: 694,957 75,163 770,120 132,142 956 36,584 262,898 38,241 15,448 5,005 491,274 1,261,394
Additions – 4,174 4,174 – 1,083 2,225 62,899 2,642 – 2,624 71,473 75,647
Disposals – – – – – – (17) (56) – (88) (161) (161)
Transfer to investment properties (21,740) – (21,740) (74,632) – – – – – – (74,632) (96,372)
Transfer to costs of construction 

contracts – – – – – – (2,620) – – – (2,620) (2,620)
Reclassification – – – – (1,990) 1,990 – – – – – –
Surplus/(deficit) on revaluation 

credited to other comprehensive 
income 18,065 – 18,065 (3,738) – – – – – – (3,738) 14,327

Deficit on revaluation charged to 
profit or loss (3,121) – (3,121) (2,297) – – – – – – (2,297) (5,418)

Depreciation provided  
during the year (27,033) (9,522) (36,555) (5,725) – (8,835) (60,832) (5,956) (2,400) (2,120) (85,868) (122,423)

Exchange realignment (2,148) (4,031) (6,179) (7,440) (49) (1,762) (717) (2,067) – (23) (12,058) (18,237)
            

At 31 December 2022, net of 
accumulated depreciation 658,980 65,784 724,764 38,310 – 30,202 261,611 32,804 13,048 5,398 381,373 1,106,137

            

At 31 December 2022:
Cost or valuation 658,980 93,140 752,120 38,310 – 71,077 795,212 71,722 16,529 18,577 1,011,427 1,763,547
Accumulated depreciation – (27,356) (27,356) – – (40,875) (533,601) (38,918) (3,481) (13,179) (630,054) (657,410)

            

Net carrying amount 658,980 65,784 724,764 38,310 – 30,202 261,611 32,804 13,048 5,398 381,373 1,106,137
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14.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Notes:

(a)	 The Company’s right-of-use of leasehold land, together with the owned buildings are held for own 
use. The leasehold land in Hong Kong is held on medium-term leases expiring on 30 June 2047. The 
leasehold land in the Chinese Mainland is held on medium-term leases expiring in 2043.

(b)	 The Group has lease contracts for buildings used in its operations. Leases of buildings generally have 
lease terms between two and twenty years.

(c)	 At 31 December 2023, certain leasehold land and owned properties with an aggregate carrying value of 
HK$139,010,000 (2022: HK$142,700,000) were pledged to banks to secure bank loans granted to the 
Group.

At 31 December 2023, other than one of the Group’s leasehold land which was revalued at 
HK$176,000,000 by the directors with reference to a valuation report performed by A.G. Wilkinson 
& Associates (Surveyors) Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers, at an aggregate 
open market value based on its existing use basis on 31 December 2023, the Group’s remaining 
leasehold land and owned buildings were revalued individually on 31 December 2023 by Savills 
Valuation and Professional Services Limited, an independent professionally qualified valuer, at 
an aggregate open market value of HK$506,860,000 based on their existing uses. A revaluation 
surplus of HK$14,927,000 and revaluation deficits aggregating HK$1,258,000, resulting from the 
above valuations, have been credited to other comprehensive income and charged to the statement 
of profit or loss, respectively. Had the leasehold land and owned buildings been carried at historical 
cost less accumulated depreciation, their carrying amount would have been approximately 
HK$284,956,000 (2022: HK$296,642,000).

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s leasehold land 
and owned buildings:

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2023 using

Quoted 
prices in 

active 
markets

Significant 
observable

 inputs

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Recurring fair value measurement for:
Leasehold land and owned buildings – – 682,860 682,860
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14.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2022 using

Quoted 
prices in 

active 
markets

Significant
 observable 

inputs

Significant
 unobservable

 inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Recurring fair value measurement for:
Leasehold land and owned buildings – – 697,290 697,290

    

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 
and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2022: Nil).

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

Leasehold Owned
land buildings Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

For the year ended 31 December 2023
Carrying amount at 1 January 2023 658,980 38,310 697,290
Depreciation (26,523) (1,576) (28,099)
Surplus on revaluation recognised in  

other comprehensive income 14,486 441 14,927
Deficit on revaluation recognised in the  

statement profit or loss (1,236) (22) (1,258)
   

Carrying amount at 31 December 2023 645,707 37,153 682,860
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14.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: 
(continued)

Leasehold Owned
land buildings Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

For the year ended 31 December 2022
Carrying amount at 1 January 2022 694,957 132,142 827,099
Transfer to investment properties (21,740) (74,632) (96,372)
Depreciation (27,033) (5,725) (32,758)
Surplus/(deficit) on revaluation recognised in  

other comprehensive income 18,065 (3,738) 14,327
Deficit on revaluation recognised in the  

statement profit or loss (3,121) (2,297) (5,418)
Exchange realignment (2,148) (7,440) (9,588)

   

Carrying amount at 31 December 2022 658,980 38,310 697,290
   

Set out below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key inputs to the valuation of 
the Group’s properties held for own use:

Valuation
 technique

Significant 
unobservable 

input Range
2023 2022

     

Leasehold land and owned 
buildings held for own use

Direct 
comparison

 approach

Prevailing 
market price 

(per sq. ft.)

HK$2,193 to 
HK$10,574

HK$2,368 to 
HK$11,722

Carpark held for own use Direct 
comparison 

Approach

Prevailing
 market price 
(per carpark)

HK$1,450,000 to 
HK$3,500,000

HK$1,550,000 to 
HK$3,500,000

The fair value of properties held for own use is determined using the direct comparison approach 
for valuing these properties in their respective existing condition and use on the market basis 
assuming sale with immediate vacant possession and by making reference to comparable sales 
evidence. The valuations take into account the characteristics of the properties which include the 
location, size, view, floor level, year of completion and other factors collectively. Higher premium 
for properties with positive characteristics will result in a higher fair value measurement.
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15.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Carrying amount at 1 January 117,439 23,118
Net loss from fair value adjustments (11,122) (2,051)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment – 96,372
Exchange re-alignment (1,591) –

  

Carrying amount at 31 December 104,726 117,439
  

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31 December 2023 based on valuations 
performed by Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited and Knight Frank Petty Limited, 
independent professionally qualified valuers, at HK$104,726,000.

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, none of the Group’s investment properties was pledged.

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s investment 
properties:

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2023 using

Quoted 
prices in 

active markets

Significant 
observable 

inputs

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Recurring fair value measurement for:
Commercial properties – – 18,786 18,786
Industrial properties – – 85,940 85,940

    

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2022 using

Quoted 
prices in 

active markets

Significant 
observable 

inputs

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Recurring fair value measurement for:
Commercial properties – – 21,067 21,067
Industrial properties – – 96,372 96,372

    

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 
and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2022: Nil).
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15.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

Commercial Industrial
properties properties

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Carrying amount at 1 January 2022 23,118 –
Net loss from a fair value adjustment recognised in profit  

or loss (2,051) –
Transfer from property, plant and equipment – 96,372

  

Carrying amount at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 21,067 96,372
Net loss from fair value adjustments recognised in  

profit or loss (2,281) (8,841)
Exchange re-alignment – (1,591)

  

Carrying amount at 31 December 2023 18,786 85,940
  

Set out below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs to the valuation of 
investment properties:

Valuation
technique

Significant
unobservable 

input Range
2023 2022

     

Commercial properties Direct 
comparison 

approach

Prevailing 
market price 

(per sq.m.)

HK$28,647 to
HK$29,742

HK$30,651 to
HK$38,353

Industrial properties Direct 
comparison 

approach

Prevailing 
market price 

(per sq.m.)

HK$1,213 to
HK$2,038

HK$1,132 to 
HK$1,681

Direct comparison approach

The fair value of investment properties is determined using the direct comparison approach for 
valuing these properties in their respective existing condition and use on the market basis assuming 
sale with immediate vacant possession and by making reference to comparable sales evidence. The 
valuations take into account the characteristics of the properties which include the location, size, 
view, floor level, year of completion and other factors collectively. Higher prevailing market price 
for properties with positive characteristics will result in a higher fair value measurement.
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16.	 LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for land and buildings used in its operations. Leases of land and 
buildings generally have lease terms between one and twenty years. Generally, the Group is 
restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(a)	 Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the year are as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Carrying amount at 1 January 56,861 63,006
New leases 10,706 4,174
Accretion of interest recognised during the year 3,964 3,856
Payments (11,366) (9,382)
Exchange re-alignment (865) (4,793)

  

Carrying amount at 31 December 59,300 56,861
  

Analysed into:
Current portion 7,595 4,429
Non-current portion 51,705 52,432

  

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 43 to the financial statements.

(b)	 The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Interest on lease liabilities 3,964 3,856
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 37,381 36,555
Deficit on revaluation charged to profit or loss 1,236 3,121
Expense relating to short-term leases (included in cost  

of services provided and administrative expenses) 10,149 9,138
  

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 52,730 52,670
  

(c)	 The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 39(c) to the financial statements.
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17.	 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

On 30 September 2020, Chinney Kin Wing Property Limited, an indirect non wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Group, entered into an agreement with an independent third party, Profit Gainer 
Holdings Limited (“Profit Gainer”), for the acquisition of 50% equity interest of Senior Rich 
Development Limited (the “Acquisition”) and two long-term lease agreements of leasehold land 
pursuant to the Acquisition at a consideration of HK$190,000,000 to be satisfied by (i) an initial 
deposit of HK$2,000,000; (ii) cash payment of HK$62,000,000 upon completion of the Acquisition; 
and (iii) payment of the remaining balance of HK$126,000,000 by thirty-six (36) monthly 
installments with 36 post-dated cheques at HK$3,500,000 each to Profit Gainer upon completion 
of the Acquisition. Upon completion of the Acquisition, on 28 December 2020, Senior Rich 
Development Limited became an associate of the Group, with two right-of-use assets recognised by 
the Group for these two long term lease agreements of leasehold land.

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Share of net assets 121 121
  

Particulars of the associate as at 31 December 2023 are as follows:

Name

Place of
incorporation/

registration
and business

Particulars of
registered/

issued
capital held

Percentage of
ownership

interest
attributable to

the Group Principal activities
2023 2022

      

Senior Rich Development 
Limited

Hong Kong Class “A” 
voting shares – HK$380

50 50 Property investment

Class “B” 
non-voting shares – 

HK$10,000

50 50

The above investment is indirectly held by the Company.



Chinney Alliance Group Limited    Annual Report 2023120

31 December 2023

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17.	 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the Group’s associate that is 
not individually material:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Share of the associate’s profit for the year – –
Share of an associate’s other comprehensive income – –
Share of the associate’s total comprehensive income – –
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s  

investment in the associate 121 121
  

18.	 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT ARRANGEMENTS

Joint venture

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Share of net assets – –
  

The balance with a joint venture was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Particulars of the Group’s joint venture are as follows:

Percentage of
 

Name

Place of 
registration

and business
Ownership

interest
Voting
power

Profit
sharing

Principal 
activity

      

Chinney P & H Studio Co., Ltd. 
(“Chinney P & H”)

Macau 50 50 50 Provision of fitting 
out works

The above investment in a joint venture is indirectly held by the Company.
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18.	 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

Joint venture (continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of Chinney P & H adjusted 
for any differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the financial 
statements:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Share of the joint venture’s assets and liabilities:

Current assets 186 186
Current liabilities (484) (484)

  

Net liabilities (298) (298)
  

Share of the joint venture’s results:

Total revenue – –
Total expenses – –

  

Loss after tax – –
  

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of the joint venture because the 
losses exceeded the Group’s investment in the joint venture. In the opinion of the directors of the 
Company, the Group will not continue to provide further financial support or capital injection to 
the joint venture. The Group does not have any unrecognised share of losses of the joint venture 
for the current year (2022: Nil). At 31 December 2023, the aggregate unrecognised share of losses 
of the joint venture amounted to HK$298,000 (2022: HK$298,000).

Joint operation

Particulars of the Group’s joint arrangement is as follows:

Form of 
business

Place of
registration

Percentage of 
interest

attributable
to the Group Principal

Name structure and business 2023 2022 activity
      

Southa – Shun Cheong 
3408 Joint Venture

Unincorporated Hong Kong 50 50 Electrical and
mechanical

engineering

Under the joint venture agreement, the Group and the other party to the joint arrangement have 
rights to the assets and obligations to the liabilities relating to the joint arrangement, therefore this 
body unincorporate is classified as joint operation.
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19.	 EQUITY INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Equity investment at fair value through  
other comprehensive income
Unlisted equity investment, at fair value 7,726 7,217

  

The above equity investment was irrevocably measured at fair value as the Group considers this 
investment to be strategic in nature.

20.	 GOODWILL

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Cost and carrying amount at 1 January and 31 December 14,369 14,369
  

At 31 December:
Cost 14,767 14,767
Accumulated impairment (398) (398)

  

Net carrying amount 14,369 14,369
  

Impairment testing of goodwill

For impairment testing, goodwill acquired through business combination has been allocated to 
three cash-generating units which are involved in building related contracting services, trading of 
electrical installation products and data centre solution.

Building related contracting services

The recoverable amount of the building related contracting services cash-generating unit has been 
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial 
budgets approved by senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 
14.3% (2022: 13.2%).

Trading of electrical installation products

The recoverable amount of the trading of electrical installation products cash-generating unit has 
been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial 
budgets approved by senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 
19.2% (2022: 18.0%).
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20.	 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Data centre solution

The recoverable amount of the data centre solution cash-generating unit has been determined 
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved 
by senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 21.3% (2022: 
20.7%).

Assumptions used in the value in use calculation for 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Budgeted gross margins: The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross 
margins is the estimated gross margins related to signed but uncompleted construction contracts 
on hand and estimated product sales of confirmed orders.

Discount rates: The discount rates used are before tax and reflect specific risks relating to the 
relevant units.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development of the industries of building 
related contracting services, trading of electrical installation products and data centre solution, 
budgeted gross margins and discount rates are consistent with external information sources.

21.	 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Club memberships, at fair value 5,814 5,814
Unlisted other investment, at fair value 22,730 20,764

  

28,544 26,578
  

The above unlisted investments at 31 December 2023 were mandatorily classified as financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are not solely payments of 
principal and interest.

22.	 INVENTORIES

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Raw materials 37,155 71,098
Finished goods 12,591 14,271

  

Total 49,746 85,369
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23.	 PROPERTY HELD FOR SALE UNDER DEVELOPMENT

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Property held for sale under development
– pending construction expected to be recovered:

After one year 102,382 73,485
  

At 31 December 2023, the property held for sale under development was pledged to a bank to 
secure certain bank loans granted to the Group.

Particulars of the Group’s property held for sale under development are included in “Particulars of Property” 
on page 154.

24.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trade receivables 787,620 825,380
Impairment (10,532) (10,509)

  

Net carrying amount 777,088 814,871
  

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. The credit periods range from 
cash on delivery to 60 days. A longer credit period may be allowed for customers with good 
business relationships with the Group. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group 
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed 
regularly by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade 
receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration 
of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade 
receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.
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24.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the 
invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Current to 30 days 398,535 514,758
31 to 60 days 179,756 167,503
61 to 90 days 57,069 50,664
Over 90 days 141,728 81,946

  

Total 777,088 814,871
  

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

At beginning of year 10,509 1,051
Impairment losses (note 6) 111 9,458
Amounts written off (88) –

  

At end of year 10,532 10,509
  

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure 
expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various 
customer segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted 
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is available 
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic 
conditions.
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24.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables 
using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

Past due
 

Current
Less than 
1 month

1 to 3 
months

Over 
3 months Total

      

Expected credit loss rate 0.03% 0.03% 0.16% 8.92% 1.33%
Gross carrying amount 

(HK$’000) 407,118 183,165 82,895 114,442 787,620
Expected credit losses  

(HK$’000) 132 60 136 10,204 10,532

As at 31 December 2022

Past due
 

Current
Less than 
1 month

1 to 3 
months

Over 
3 months Total

      

Expected credit loss rate 0.12% 0.07% 0.35% 14.90% 1.27%
Gross carrying amount 

(HK$’000) 527,918 168,529 65,021 63,912 825,380
Expected credit losses  

(HK$’000) 644 113 228 9,524 10,509

25.	 AMOUNT DUE FROM A RELATED COMPANY

The amount due from a related company represented construction contracting income certified 
from Honour Well Development Limited (“Honour Well”) as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. 
Honour Well is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Hon Kwok Land Investment Company, Limited 
(“Hon Kwok”) of which Dr. James Sai-Wing Wong, a director of the Company (retired on 2 June 
2023) and a controlling shareholder of the Company, was also a director of Hon Kwok (retired on 
31 August 2023) and has a beneficial interest in. Mr. James Sing-Wai Wong and Mr. Philip Bing-Lun Lam 
are common directors of the Company and Hon Kwok.

The amount due from a related company was unsecured, interest-free and repayable within 
30 days. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.
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26.	 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Prepayments 9,028 15,717
Deposits and other receivables 350,578 281,417

  

359,606 297,134
Portion classified as non-current:

Deposits (2,745) (12,354)
  

Current portion 356,861 284,780
  

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which there was no 
recent history of default and past due amounts. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the loss 
allowance was assessed to be minimal.

27.	 CONTRACT ASSETS

31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Unbilled revenue (a) 1,223,574 870,130 1,063,000
Retention monies receivable (b) 705,055 632,541 590,825
Impairment of retention monies 

receivable (10,265) – –
   

Total 1,918,364 1,502,671 1,653,825
   

Notes:

(a)	 Unbilled revenue is initially recognised for revenue earned from the provision of construction services as 
the receipt of consideration is conditional on successful completion of construction. Upon completion 
of construction and acceptance by the customer, the amounts recognised as unbilled revenue are 
reclassified to trade receivables.

(b)	 Retention monies receivable are part of the consideration that the customers retain which is payable on 
successful completion of the contracts in order to provide the customers with assurance that the Group 
will complete its obligation satisfactorily under the contracts, rather than to provide financing to the 
customers.

The increase in contract assets in 2023 was the result of the increase in the provision of 
construction services at the end of that year while the decrease in contract assets in 2022 was the 
result of the decrease in the provision of construction services at the end of the year.
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27.	 CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets as at 31 December is as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within one year 1,660,523 1,234,426
After one year 257,841 268,245

  

Total contract assets 1,918,364 1,502,671
  

The Group’s trading terms and credit policy with customers are disclosed in note 24 to the financial 
statements.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of retention monies receivable are as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

At beginning of the year – –
Impairment losses 10,265 –

  

At end of year 10,265 –
  

Included in the above impairment allowance for contract assets is an allowance for an individually 
impaired contract asset of HK$10,265,000 (2022: Nil) which was considered in default due to 
indicators which showed that the Group was unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual 
amount in full. Except for the specific impairment allowance mentioned above, an impairment 
analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit 
losses. The provision rates for the measurement of the expected credit losses of the contract assets 
are based on those of the trade receivables as the contract assets and the trade receivables are 
from the same customer bases. The provision rates of contract assets are based on days past due 
of trade receivables for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns. The 
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and 
supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions 
and forecasts of future economic conditions. At 31 December 2022, the loss allowance for contract 
assets was assessed to be minimal.
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28.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Cash and bank balances 533,750 537,664
Time deposits 537,249 222,998

  

Total 1,070,999 760,662
  

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in 
Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to HK$38,850,000 (2022: HK$20,553,000). The RMB is not freely 
convertible into other currencies, however, under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control 
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange 
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks 
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Certain of the Group’s cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit 
rates. Short-term time deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three months 
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective 
short-term time deposit rates. The bank balances and deposits are deposited with creditworthy 
banks with no recent history of default.
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29.	 TRADE, BILLS AND RETENTION MONIES PAYABLES

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trade payables 624,176 429,320
Bills payable 22,950 12,981
Retention monies payable# 307,434 330,722

  

Total 954,560 773,023
  

#	 Retention monies payable had repayment terms ranging from one to two years.

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice 
date, is as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Current to 30 days 407,702 293,457
31 to 60 days 158,804 81,247
61 to 90 days 17,037 11,690
Over 90 days 40,633 42,926

  

Total 624,176 429,320
  

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within terms of 60 to 120 
days.
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30.	 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Contract liabilities (a) 820,078 729,235
Other payables (b) 137,319 70,601
Accruals 495,932 366,449

  

Total 1,453,329 1,166,285
  

Notes:

(a)	 Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Short-term advances received from 
customers
Construction services 820,078 729,235 615,946

   

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver construction services. The increase 
in contract liabilities in 2023 and 2022 was mainly due to the increase in short-term advances received 
from customers in relation to the provision of construction services at the end of each of the years.

(b)	 Included in other payables is an advanced payment received from a customer for project operation use 
of HK$100,000,000 which is interest-bearing and repayable within one year. Except for the above, 
other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of three months. In the prior year, 
except for other payable of HK$41,325,000 which had repayment terms ranging from one month to 
twelve months, other payables were non-interest-bearing and have an average term of three months.

31.	 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Liabilities Liabilities
2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Forward currency contracts 99 –
  

The group enters into foreign currency forward contracts with a bank to manage its exchange 
rate exposures which do not meet the criteria for hedge accounting. Change in fair value of 
non-hedging currency derivatives amounting to HK$99,000 was debited to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss during the year.
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32.	 INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Effective Effective
interest 
rate % Maturity HK$’000

interest 
rate % Maturity HK$’000

       

Current
Trust receipt loans 4.23 – 7.66 On demand 324,343 4.76 – 7.80 On demand 132,895

Bank loans (note (c)) 4.32 – 7.43 2023-2029 or 
on demand

389,983 6.03 – 7.45 2022-2029 or 
on demand

349,755

  

Total 714,326 482,650
  

Notes:

(a)	 The Group’s bank borrowings were secured by corporate guarantees given by the Company and/or 
certain subsidiaries. Trust receipt loans were repayable within six months from the date of advance, and 
bore interest at floating interest rates.

(b)	 Bank borrowings of HK$714,326,000 as set out above are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and bear 
interest at floating interest rates.

(c)	 As at 31 December 2023, bank loans of HK$71,468,000 (2022: HK$52,406,000) were secured by the 
pledge of certain leasehold land and owned buildings, and property held for sale under development 
with an aggregate carrying value of HK$241,392,000 (2022: HK$216,185,000) (notes 14 and 23).

The maturity of the above bank borrowings is as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Analysed into:
Bank loan and trust receipt loans repayable:

Within one year or on demand 714,326 482,650
  

As at 31 December 2023, ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand clause and based on 
the maturity terms of the bank loans and trust receipt loans, the amounts repayable in respect of 
the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings were: within one year of HK$707,598,000 (2022: 
HK$474,926,000); in the second year of HK$1,171,000 (2022: HK$1,228,000); in the third to fifth 
years, inclusive of HK$4,023,000 (2022: HK$3,930,000); and over five years of HK$1,534,000 
(2022: HK$2,566,000).



Annual Report 2023    Chinney Alliance Group Limited 133

31 December 2023

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33.	 DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

2023

Depreciation
 allowance in 

excess of 
related 

depreciation
Revaluation 

of properties Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At 1 January 40,842 51,216 92,058

Deferred tax credited to the statement of 
profit or loss during the year (note 11) (2,066) (4,726) (6,792)

Deferred tax charged to other 
comprehensive income – 1,979 1,979

   

Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 38,776 48,469 87,245
   

2022

Depreciation 
allowance in 

excess of 
related

 depreciation
Revaluation 

of properties Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At 1 January 45,041 54,142 99,183

Deferred tax credited to the statement of 
profit or loss during the year (note 11) (4,199) (4,897) (9,096)

Deferred tax charged to other 
comprehensive income – 1,971 1,971

   

Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 40,842 51,216 92,058
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33.	 DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets

2023

Right-of-use 
assets

Losses 
available for 

offsetting 
against future 

taxable 
profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

At 1 January 3 5,014 5,017
Deferred tax credited to the statement of 

profit or loss during the year (note 11) 2 7,630 7,632
   

Gross deferred tax assets at 31 December 5 12,644 12,649
   

2022

Right-of-use 
assets

Losses 
available for 

offsetting 
against future 

taxable 
profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Gross deferred tax assets at 1 January and  
at 31 December 3 5,014 5,017

   

For presentation purpose, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax 
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated 
statement of financial position 7,636 3

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated 
statement of financial position (82,232) (87,044)

  

(74,596) (87,041)
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33.	 DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets (continued)

The Group has estimated tax losses arising in Hong Kong of approximately HK$318,239,000 
(2022: HK$254,478,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable 
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. As at 31 December 2023, no deferred tax 
asset was recognised in respect of the tax losses in Hong Kong of HK$241,606,000 (2022: 
HK$224,091,000). The Group also has tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland of HK$71,135,000 
(2022: HK$66,022,000) and Macau of HK$56,368,000 (2022: HK$70,801,000) that will expire in 
five and three years, respectively, for offsetting against future taxable profits respectively. Deferred 
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries 
that have been loss-making for some time and, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, it 
is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can be 
utilised.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by the Company to 
its shareholders.

34.	 SHARE CAPITAL

Shares

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Authorised:
2,500,000,000 (2022: 2,500,000,000) ordinary shares of 

HK$0.10 (2022: HK$0.10) each 250,000 250,000
  

Issued and fully paid:
594,899,245 (2022: 594,899,245) ordinary shares of 

HK$0.10 (2022: HK$0.10) each 59,490 59,490
  

There was no movement in the share capital of the Company during the year (2022: Nil)

35.	 RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are 
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 55 and 56 of the financial 
statements.
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36.	 PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests are set out below:

2023 2022
   

Percentage of equity interest held by non-controlling interests:
Chinney Kin Wing 25.5% 25.5%

  

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Profit for the year allocated to non-controlling interests:
Chinney Kin Wing 30,713 24,483

  

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests:
Chinney Kin Wing 12,623 5,737

  

Accumulated balances of non-controlling interests  
at the reporting dates:
Chinney Kin Wing 187,021 167,381

  

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of Chinney Kin Wing. The 
amounts disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Revenue 2,122,397 1,805,843
Other income 17,665 17,864
Total expenses (2,019,596) (1,727,683)
Profit for the year 120,466 96,024
Total comprehensive income for the year 126,546 102,830

  

Current assets 1,276,689 1,063,918
Non-current assets 480,064 461,743
Current liabilities (993,140) (837,094)
Non-current liabilities (33,406) (35,407)

  

Net cash flows from operating activities 279,795 399,389
Net cash flows used in investing activities (120,729) (103,254)
Net cash flows used in financing activities (50,300) (24,394)

  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 108,766 271,741
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37.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)	 In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group 
had the following material transactions with related parties during the year:

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Management fee to a major shareholder (i) 3,080 5,990
Share of rental and office expenses with a 

related company (ii) 614 599
Rent paid to related companies (ii) 990 1,040
Construction contracting expenses to related 

companies (iii) – 57
Licence fee paid to related companies (iv) 408 216
Sales of goods to related companies (v) (29) (1,604)
Income on maintenance works from related 

companies (vi) (46) (57)
Income from contracting works from related 

companies (vii) (52,682) (8,605)
  

Notes:

(i)	 The management fee was charged by Chinney Investments, Limited (“Chinney Investments”) 
based on the time involvement of the personnel providing services. Dr. James Sai-Wing Wong, a 
director of the Company (retired on 2 June 2023) and a controlling shareholder of the Company, 
was also a director of Chinney Investments (retired on 31 August 2023) and has a beneficial 
interest in. Mr. James Sing-Wai Wong and Mr. Yuen-Keung Chan are common directors of the 
Company and Chinney Investments.

(ii)	 The rental and office expenses were charged by Hon Kwok and its subsidiary, a subsidiary of 
Chinney Investments, on an actual basis. Dr. James Sai-Wing Wong was a director of Hon Kwok 
(retired on 31 August 2023) and has a beneficial interest in. Mr. James Sing-Wai Wong and  
Mr. Philip Bing-Lun Lam are common directors of the Company and Hon Kwok.

(iii)	 The construction contracting expenses paid to related companies, which are subsidiaries of 
Hon Kwok, were negotiated between the concerned parties by reference to prevailing market 
rates.

(iv)	 The license fees charged by Hon Kwok and its subsidiary were negotiated between the 
concerned parties by reference to prevailing market rates.

(v)	 The sales of goods to related companies, which are the subsidiaries of Hon Kwok, were 
negotiated between the concerned parties by reference to prevailing market rates.

(vi)	 The income on maintenance works received from a subsidiary of Hon Kwok and a related 
company of which Dr. James Sai-Wing Wong is a director and has beneficial interest 
was negotiated between the concerned parties by reference to prevailing market rates.  
Mr. James Sing-Wai Wong is also a common director of that related company and the Company.



Chinney Alliance Group Limited    Annual Report 2023138

31 December 2023

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)	 (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(vii)	 The construction contracting income from construction works and revamp works from related 
companies, which are subsidiaries of Hon Kwok, were negotiated between the concerned parties 
by reference to prevailing market rates. The transactions constitute connected transactions of the 
Group and were approved by independent shareholders of the Company at the special general 
meetings held on 24 August 2018 and 28 November 2022, respectively.

Last year, the income from contract ing works from a related company, of which  
Dr. James Sai-Wing Wong is a director and has beneficial interest, was negotiated between the 
concerned parties by reference to the prevailing market rates. Mr. James Sing-Wai Wong is also a 
common director of that related company and the Company.

(b)	 Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Short term employee benefits 136,242 117,407
Post-employment benefits 3,243 3,529

  

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 139,485 120,936
  

(c)	 Outstanding balance with a related party:

Details of the Group’s balance with a related company as at the end of the reporting period 
are included in note 25 to the financial statements.

38.	 COMMITMENTS

(a)	 The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the reporting period:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Contracted, but not provided for:
Property, plant and equipment 6,595 42,259
Capital contribution to financial assets at fair value 4,509 5,343

  

11,104 47,602
  

(b)	 At 31 December 2023, the Group had a lease contract that has not yet commenced. The 
future lease payments for this non-cancellable lease contract are HK$732,000 due within one 
year, and HK$547,000 due in the second to fifth years, inclusive.
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39.	 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)	 Major non-cash transactions

(i)	 During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities of HK$10,706,000 (2022: HK$4,174,000) and HK$10,706,000 (2022: 
HK$4,174,000), respectively, in respect of the arrangements for land and buildings.

(b)	 Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

2023

Trust Lease Bank
receipt loans liabilities loans

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

At 1 January 2023 132,895 56,861 349,755
Changes from financing cash flows 191,448 (7,403) 40,228
Non-cash flow:

New leases – 10,706 –
Foreign exchange movement – (864) –
Interest expense – 3,964 –

Interest paid classified as operating 
cash flows – (3,964) –

   

At 31 December 2023 324,343 59,300 389,983
   

2022

Trust Lease Bank
receipt loans liabilities loans

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

At 1 January 2022 119,978 63,006 368,759
Changes from financing cash flows 12,917 (5,526) (18,907)
Non-cash flow:

New leases – 4,174 –
Foreign exchange movement – (4,793) (324)
Interest expense – 3,856 –
Amortisation of loan arrangement 

fee – – 227
Interest paid classified as operating 

cash flows – (3,856) –
   

At 31 December 2022 132,895 56,861 349,755
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39.	 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c)	 Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash flows is as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within operating activities 14,113 12,994
Within financing activities 7,403 5,526

  

Total 21,516 18,520
  

40.	 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group provided corporate guarantees and indemnities to certain 
banks and insurance institutions for the issue of performance/surety bonds in an aggregate amount 
of HK$669,417,000 (2022: HK$908,977,000) in favour of the Group’s clients in its ordinary course 
of businesses. This amount included performance/surety issued in favour of the clients of Chinney 
Kin Wing Group of HK$230,578,000 (2022: HK$270,465,000) to which corporate guarantees and 
indemnities were provided by Chinney Kin Wing Group.
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41.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the 
reporting period are as follows:

2023

Financial assets

Financial 
assets at 

fair value 
through 

profit or loss

Financial 
assets at 

fair value
through other

comprehensive 
income

Mandatorily
 designated 

as such
Equity 

investment

Financial 
assets at 

amortised
cost Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Equity investment at fair value through  
other comprehensive income – 7,726 – 7,726

Trade receivables – – 777,088 777,088
Amount due from a related company – – 11,039 11,039
Financial assets at fair value through  

profit or loss 28,544 – – 28,544
Financial assets included in prepayments, 

deposits and other receivables – – 350,578 350,578
Cash and cash equivalents – – 1,070,999 1,070,999

    

Total 28,544 7,726 2,209,704 2,245,974
    

Financial liabilities

Financial 
liabilities at 

fair value 
through 

profit or loss

Mandatorily 
designated 

as such

Financial 
liabilities at

 amortised cost Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Trade, bills and retention monies payables – 954,560 954,560
Trust receipt loans – 324,343 324,343
Financial liabilities included in other payables 

and accruals – 569,352 569,352
Derivative financial liabilities 99 – 99
Lease liabilities – 59,300 59,300
Interest-bearing bank borrowings – 389,983 389,983

   

Total 99 2,297,538 2,297,637
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41.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the 
reporting period are as follows: (continued)

2022

Financial assets

Financial 
assets at 

fair value 
through 

profit or loss

Financial 
assets at 

fair value 
through other 

comprehensive 
income 

Mandatorily 
designated 

as such
Equity 

investment

Financial 
assets at

 amortised
cost Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Equity investment at fair value through  
other comprehensive income – 7,217 – 7,217

Trade receivables – – 814,871 814,871
Amount due from a related company – – 9,651 9,651
Amount due from a joint venture – – 967 967
Financial assets at fair value through  

profit or loss 26,578 – – 26,578
Financial assets included in prepayments, 

deposits and other receivables – – 281,417 281,417
Cash and cash equivalents – – 760,662 760,662

    

Total 26,578 7,217 1,867,568 1,901,363
    

Financial liabilities

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost
HK$’000

  

Trade, bills and retention monies payables 773,023
Trust receipt loans 132,895
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 386,574
Lease liabilities 56,861
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 349,755

 

Total 1,699,108
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42.	 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments, other than those with 
carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
2023 2022 2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Financial assets
Equity investment at fair value 

through other comprehensive 
income 7,726 7,217 7,726 7,217

Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss 28,544 26,578 28,544 26,578

    

Total 36,270 33,795 36,270 33,795
    

Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments 99 – 99 –

    

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, 
trade, bills and retention monies payables, trust receipt loans, financial assets included in 
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities included in other payables and 
accruals, lease liabilities, interest-bearing bank borrowings, an amount due from a related company 
and an amount due from a joint venture approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the 
short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the 
instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a 
forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair 
values:

The fair value of the club membership included in financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss was based on quoted prices. The fair value of the unlisted equity investment at fair value 
through other comprehensive income and unlisted other investment included in financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss were derived from the latest transaction prices, market prices or 
net asset value of the investee which approximates to its fair value. An increase/(decrease) in the 
latest transaction prices would result in an increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the unlisted equity 
investment and unlisted other investment.
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42.	 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2023

Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices 

in active 
markets

Significant 
observable 

inputs

Significant
 unobservable 

inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Equity investment at fair value through 
other comprehensive income – – 7,726 7,726

Financial assets at fair value through  
profit or loss – 5,814 22,730 28,544

    

Total – 5,814 30,456 36,270
    

As at 31 December 2022

Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices 

in active 
markets

Significant
 observable 

inputs

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Equity investment at fair value through 
other comprehensive income – – 7,217 7,217

Financial assets at fair value through  
profit or loss – 5,814 20,764 26,578

    

Total – 5,814 27,981 33,795
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42.	 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Liabilities measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2023

Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices 

in active 
markets

Significant 
observable 

inputs

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Derivative financial instruments – 99 – 99
    

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 December 2022.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 
and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities (2022: Nil).

43.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing bank borrowings, cash and 
bank balances, and short-term deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise 
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such 
as trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, balances with a joint venture, trade, bills and 
retention monies payables, other payables, and trust receipt loans, which arise directly from the 
Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency 
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The directors meet periodically to analyse and formulate measures 
to manage each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s 
debt obligations with a floating interest rate.

The interest rates and terms of repayment of interest-bearing bank borrowings are disclosed in 
note 32 to the financial statements. Other financial assets and liabilities of the Group do not have 
material interest rate risk. Interest-bearing bank borrowings, cash and bank balances, and short-term  
deposits are stated at cost and are not revalued on a periodic basis. Floating-rate interest income and 
expenses are credited or charged to the statement of profit or loss as incurred.

The nominal interest rates of the financial instruments approximate to their respective effective 
interest rates.
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43.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rate, 
with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on 
floating rate borrowings) and the Group’s equity.

Increase/
(decrease) in 
basis points

Increase/
(decrease) 

in profit 
before tax

Increase/
(decrease) 

in equity*
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

2023

Hong Kong dollar 50 (3,098) –
Hong Kong dollar (50) 3,098 –

2022

Hong Kong dollar 50 (2,500) –
Hong Kong dollar (50) 2,500 –

*	 Excluding retained profits



Annual Report 2023    Chinney Alliance Group Limited 147

31 December 2023

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. These exposures arise from sales or purchases by 
operating units in currencies other than the units’ functional currencies. The Group requires one 
of its operating units to use foreign currency forward contracts to eliminate the foreign currency 
exposures on any individual transactions.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably 
possible change in the United States dollar (“USD”), Canadian dollar (“CAD”), Euro (“EUR”) and 
RMB exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (arising 
from USD, CAD, EUR and RMB denominated financial instruments) and the Group’s equity.

Increase/
(decrease) in

 exchange rate

Increase/
(decrease) 

in profit 
before tax

Increase/
(decrease) 
in equity *

% HK$’000 HK$’000
    

2023

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against USD 1 14 –
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against USD (1) (14) –

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against CAD 5 1,362 –
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against CAD (5) (1,362) –

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against EUR 5 547 –
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against EUR (5) (547) –

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB 5 2,932 –
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB (5) (2,932) –

2022

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against USD 1 222 –
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against USD (1) (222) –

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against CAD 5 1,382 –
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against CAD (5) (1,382) –

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against EUR 5 1,362 –
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against EUR (5) (1,362) –

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB 5 2,949 –
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB (5) (2,949) –

*	 Excluding retained profits
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43.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that 
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In 
addition, receivable balances are closely monitored on an ongoing basis to minimise the Group’s 
exposure to bad debts.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the 
Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past due information unless other information is 
available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The 
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2023

12-month
 ECLs Lifetime ECLs

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified
approach Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Contract assets* – – – 1,928,629 1,928,629
Trade receivables* – – – 787,620 787,620
Amount due from a related company

– Normal** 11,039 – – – 11,039
Financial assets included in prepayments, 

deposits and other receivables
– Normal** 350,578 – – – 350,578

Cash and cash equivalents
– Not yet past due 1,070,999 – – – 1,070,999

     

Total 1,432,616 – – 2,716,249 4,148,865
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43.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

As at 31 December 2022

12-month
 ECLs Lifetime ECLs

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified
approach Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Contract assets* – – – 1,502,671 1,502,671
Trade receivables* – – – 825,380 825,380
Amount due from a related company

– Normal** 9,651 – – – 9,651
Amount due from a joint venture

– Normal** 967 – – – 967
Financial assets included in prepayments, 

deposits and other receivables
– Normal** 281,417 – – – 281,417

Cash and cash equivalents
– Not yet past due 760,662 – – – 760,662

     

Total 1,052,697 – – 2,328,051 3,380,748
     

*	 For trade receivables and contract assets to which the Group applies the simplified approach for 
impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in notes 24 and 27 to the financial 
statements, respectively.

**	 The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables and 
amounts due from a related company and a joint venture is considered to be “normal” when they are 
not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to 
be “doubtful”.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool 
considers the maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade receivables) 
and projected cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through 
the use of bank loans and trust receipt loans. The Group’s policy is to maintain the Group at a net 
current asset position.
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43.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based 
on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

2023

On demand More than More than
and/or 1 year but 2 years but

less than less than less than More than
12 months 2 years 5 years 5 years Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Trade, bills and retention monies 
payables 954,560 – – – 954,560

Lease liabilities 11,122 8,203 15,438 51,069 85,832
Trust receipt loans 324,343 – – – 324,343
Financial liabilities included in  

other payables and accruals 569,352 – – – 569,352
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 389,983 – – – 389,983

     

Total 2,249,360 8,203 15,438 51,069 2,324,070
     

2022

On demand More than More than
and/or 1 year but 2 years but

less than less than less than More than
12 months 2 years 5 years 5 years Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Trade, bills and retention monies 
payables 773,023 – – – 773,023

Lease liabilities 7,851 7,549 14,715 58,257 88,372
Trust receipt loans 132,895 – – – 132,895
Financial liabilities included in  

other payables and accruals 387,249 – – – 387,249
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 349,755 – – – 349,755

     

Total 1,650,773 7,549 14,715 58,257 1,731,294
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43.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform

For financial instruments based on HIBOR, there is currently no plan to discontinue HIBOR in Hong 
Kong and it is expected that HIBOR will continue to exist in the market. Therefore, no disclosures 
for financial instruments based on HIBOR are provided.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business 
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the 
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for 
managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total interest-bearing borrowings divided 
by the total capital. Total interest-bearing borrowings include trust receipt loans, interest-bearing 
bank borrowings and lease liabilities, exclude the advanced payment received from a customer for a 
project operation use. Capital includes equity attributable to owners of the Company. The gearing 
ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trust receipt loans 324,343 132,895
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 389,983 349,755
Lease liabilities 59,300 56,861

  

Total interest-bearing borrowings 773,626 539,511
  

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 2,105,830 2,085,196
  

Gearing ratio 36.7% 25.9%
  



Chinney Alliance Group Limited    Annual Report 2023152

31 December 2023

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

44.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting 
period is as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 249 84
Interests in subsidiaries 208,420 208,420
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 282 282

  

Total non-current assets 208,951 208,786
  

CURRENT ASSETS
Amounts due from subsidiaries 309,947 312,705
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 377 313
Cash and cash equivalents 9,847 16,036

  

Total current assets 320,171 329,054
  

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals 2,013 1,626
Amounts due to subsidiaries 55,121 61,364
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 25,000 30,000

  

Total current liabilities 82,134 92,990
  

NET CURRENT ASSETS 238,037 236,064
  

Net assets 446,988 444,850
  

EQUITY
Issued capital 59,490 59,490
Reserves (note) 387,498 385,360

  

Total equity 446,988 444,850
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44.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Share 
premium 

account
Contributed

 surplus*
Retained 

profits Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

At 1 January 2022 60,978 120,946 213,094 395,018

Final 2021 dividend declared – – (16,360) (16,360)
Total comprehensive income for the year – – 6,702 6,702

    

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 60,978 120,946 203,436 385,360

Final 2022 dividend declared – – (14,872) (14,872)
Total comprehensive income for the year – – 17,010 17,010

    

At 31 December 2023 60,978 120,946 205,574 387,498
    

*	 The Company’s contributed surplus arose from the capital reorganisation which involved the 
consolidation of the capital reserve and share premium account in a prior year and the capital reduction 
involving the cancellation of a portion of the paid-up capital during that year.

There is no specific provision in the Bermuda Companies Act which regulates the use of contributed 
surplus save that the Company cannot make a distribution out of the contributed surplus to the 
shareholders if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company (i) is, or would after 
the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (ii) the realisable value of the 
Company’s assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital 
and share premium.

45.	 APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 
26 March 2024.
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PROPERTY HELD FOR SALE UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Location Use Site area
Gross 

floor area

Development
progress
(up to 
26 March 2024)

Estimated
completion

date

Attributable
interest of 
the Group

(sq.ft) (sq.ft) (%)
       

HONG KONG
The remaining portion  

of lot no. 4960 in DD51, 
Fanling, New Territories

Residential 13,158 19,737 Foundation  
work in  
progress

– 100
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